Stress biology and interactions between Solanum species and Phytophthora infestans

Studies in laboratory and field conditions

Kibrom Berhe Abreha

Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science Department of Plant Protection Biology Alnarp

> Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2017

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2017:44

Cover: Resistance screening in wild *Solanum* species, quality control (QC) of RNA-seq data (credit: Itziar Frades), quantitative proteomics analysis, and SDS-PAGE analysis of proteins labelled in Activity based protein profiling (ABPP).

(Figure: Kibrom Berhe Abreha)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8861-3 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8862-0 © 2017 Kibrom Berhe Abreha, Alnarp Print: SLU Service/Repro, Alnarp 2017

Stress biology and interactions between *Solanum* species and *Phytophthora infestans*-Studies in laboratory and field conditions

Abstract

Phytophthora infestans is a highly destructive pathogen in potato production. Developing potato cultivars with resistance against the pathogen is considered the most sustainable solution to address the problem. Wild *Solanum* species are a source of genes conferring resistance to *P. infestans* (*Rpi*-genes); however, the *Solanum* species genepool from Europe remains untapped. Since the pathogen can overcome host resistance, it is crucial to also consider alternative ways to enhance basal defence using resistance-inducers. Improving the knowledge base of *Solanum* - *Phytophthora* interactions, as well as unravelling possible effects of the interactions on other microbes and herbivores, can facilitate the use of host resistance to reduce yield losses. Furthermore, understanding plant innate immunity activation and the response to stress of host plants growing in field conditions can increase the efficiency of future disease control efforts.

Characterization of the resistance against P. infestans in the three wild Solanum species growing in Sweden showed that S. nigrum is resistant and S. physalifolium is susceptible whereas there was large resistance variation among S. dulcamara accessions. A study of S. physalifoilum showed direct and transgenerational BABAinduced resistance against P. infestans. To further understand the molecular basis of these interactions, a transcriptome comparison based on RNA-seq data was performed in the three wild Solanum species and three potato clones with varying resistance level to the pathogen, after inoculation with P. infestans. The transcriptome analysis identified expanded or depleted transcript families which are associated with resistance. It also retrieved host *R*-gene like sequences and possible pathogenicity factors produced by the pathogen during the infection process. Moreover, a tritrophic interaction study showed that a generalist moth (Spodoptera littoralis) prefers to oviposit on a susceptible potato clone inoculated with P. infestans compared to uninoculated control plants as well as inoculated resistant clone. Introduction of a resistance gene from a wild Solanum species into potato can reduce the effects of P. infestans as well as S. littoralis.

To understand the prevalence of innate immunity activation in agriculture and nature, more than 500 apoplastic leaf samples isolated from *S. nigrum* and *S. dulcamara* growing in natural populations as well as from five potato cultivars with varying levels of resistance to *P. infestans* were analysed for the presence of PR proteins. The results showed that only one third of the plants have the innate immunity activated. Presence of PR proteins increases towards the end of the growing season, which may be is linked to an increased presence of natural enemies. Moreover, we performed apoplastic

proteome analysis, using label free quantitative proteomics and activity based protein profiling (ABPP) in order to get overview of involved processes. We found that most of the proteins with increased abundance in the field compared to in greenhouse condition were related to biotic stress response. ABPP also showed differential activity statuses of serine hydrolases and β -glucosidases in field and greenhouse growing conditions. Furthermore, the activity of serine hydrolases and β -glucosidases varies across the growing season within the same field. Non-plastic peptide biomarkers for potato stress response were suggested.

Keywords: Solanum, P. infestans, Rpi-genes, BABA, tritrophic, apoplast, quantitative proteomics, ABPP, Biomarkers

Author's address: Kibrom Berhe Abreha, SLU, Department of Plant Protection Biology, P.O. Box 102, 230 53 Alnarp, Sweden *E-mail:* <u>Kibrom.abreha@slu.se</u>

Dedication

To my family

Contents

| List of Publications 8 | | | |
|------------------------|--|------|--|
| Abbr | eviations | 13 | |
| 1 | Introduction | 15 | |
| 2 | Background | 18 | |
| 2.1 | Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) | 18 | |
| 2.2 | Wild Solanum species | 19 | |
| | 2.2.1 Sources of resistance trait | 19 | |
| | 2.2.2 Wild Solanum species in Sweden | 21 | |
| 2.3 | Phytophthora infestans | 23 | |
| | 2.3.1 The pathogen and mating types | 23 | |
| | 2.3.2 Life cycle and infection process | 24 | |
| 2.4 | Plant innate immunity | 26 | |
| | 2.4.1 PAMPs triggered immunity (PTI) | 27 | |
| | 2.4.2 Effector triggered immunity (ETI) | 28 | |
| | 2.4.3 Solanum species stress response in field conditions | 30 | |
| | 2.4.4 Apoplast: the frontier in plant-pathogen interaction | 31 | |
| 2.5 | The -Omics of potato-Phytophthora pathosystem | 31 | |
| | 2.5.1 Potato-P. infestans interaction transcriptome | 32 | |
| | 2.5.2 Proteomics of the potato- <i>Phytophthora</i> pathosystem | 32 | |
| 2.6 | BABA-induced resistance | 33 | |
| 2.7 | Effects of potato-P.infestans interactions on herbivore behaviour | 34 | |
| 3 | Aim and Objectives | 36 | |
| 4 | Results and Discussion | 38 | |
| 4.1 | Solanum-P. infestans interactions and response to stress in field | | |
| | condition | 38 | |
| 4.2 | Phytophthora resistance in Swedish wild Solanum species (Paper I, I | I)39 | |
| 4.3 | Understanding the Solanum-P. infestans interactions and effects on a | a | |
| | generalist moth (Paper III and IV) | 44 | |
| 4.4 | Activation of Solanum defence response in greenhouse and field | | |
| | conditions (Paper V, VI) | 47 | |
| 5 | Conclusions and future perspectives | 52 | |
| | · · | | |

References

Acknowledgements

56

71

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I **Kibrom B. Abreha**, Åsa Lankinen, Laura Masini, Sofia Hydbom, Erik Andreasson. Investigation of late blight resistance of all three putative natural *Solanum* hosts in Sweden reveals large variation in *S. dulcamara*. Manuscript
- II Åsa Lankinen, Kibrom B. Abreha, Erik Alexandersson, Stefan Andersson, and Erik Andreasson (2016). Nongenetic inheritance of induced resistance in a wild annual plant. *Phytopathology* 106:877-883.
- III Itziar Frades*, Kibrom B. Abreha*, Estelle Proux-Wéra, Åsa Lankinen, Erik Andreasson and Erik Alexandersson (2015). A novel workflow correlating RNA-seq data to *Phythophthora infestans* resistance levels in wild *Solanum* species and potato clones. *Front.PlantSci.*6:718. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2015.00718. *co-first author
- IV Kibrom B. Abreha, Erik Alexandersson, Jack H. Vossen, Peter Anderson, Erik Andreasson (2015). Inoculation of transgenic resistant potato by *Phytophthora infestans* affects host plant choice of a generalist moth. PLoS ONE 10(6): e0129815. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0129815.
- V Åsa Lankinen, **Kibrom B. Abreha**, Laura Masini, Ashfaq Ali, Erik Andreasson. Plant immunity is seldom activated in natural populations and agricultural fields. Submitted manuscript

VI Kibrom B. Abreha, Erik Alexandersson, Åsa Lankinen, Daniela Sueldo, Kaschani Farnusch, Markus Kaiser, Renier A. L. van der Hoorn, Fredrik Levander, Erik Andreasson. Leaf apoplast of field- and greenhouse-grown potato analysed by quantitative proteomics and activity based protein profiling. Manuscript

Papers II-IV reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

* Equally contributing authors

The contribution of **Kibrom B. Abreha** the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Planned the experiment together with co-authors, performed the practical work and data analysis, and writing of the manuscript.
- II Planned the experiment together with co-authors, performed the practical work, and participated in data analysis and writing of the manuscript.
- III Planned the experiment together with co-authors, performed the practical work, and participated in the analysis and writing of the manuscript.
- IV Planned the experiment together with co-authors, performed the practical work and data analysis, and writing of the manuscript.
- V Planned the experiment together with the co-authors, performed part of the practical work, and participated in data analysis and writing of the manuscript.
- VI Planned the experiment together with co-authors, performed the practical work and data analysis, and writing of the manuscript.

Related works by Kibrom B. Abreha but not included in this Thesis:

- I Erik Andreasson, Kibrom B. Abreha, Svante Resjö (2017). Isolation of Apoplast. In: Isolation of Plant Organelles and Structures: Methods and Protocols (eds N.L. Taylor & A.H. Millar), pp. 233-240. Springer New York, New York, NY.
- II Tina Boddum, Bela Molnar, Sharon R Hill, Göran Birgersson, Bill S Hansson, Kibrom B. Abreha, Erik Andreasson and Ylva Hillbur. *Contarinia nasturtii* host selection. Manuscript
- III Tewodros M. Zewdie, Bayeh Mulatu, Kibrom B. Abreha, Habte Tekie, Mohammed Yessuf, Erik Andreasson, Erik Alexandersson. The influence of phosphite on *P. infestans* and synergism with conventional fungicides in field-grown potato and tomato in Ethiopia. Manuscript

Abbreviations

| ABPP | activity based protein profiling |
|-----------|---|
| Avr | avirulence |
| BABA | β-aminobutyric acid |
| BABA-IR | BABA- induced resistance |
| BLAST | Basic Local Alignment Search Tool |
| ETI | effector triggered immunity |
| ETS | effector triggered susceptibility |
| FAO | Food and Agricultural Organization |
| GO | Gene ontology |
| HR | hypersensitive response |
| LC/MS | liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry |
| NBS-LRR | nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeats |
| NGS | next Generation Sequencing |
| PAMPs | pathogen-associated molecular patterns |
| PCA | principal components analysis |
| PRR | pattern recognition receptor |
| PTI | PAMP trigerred immunity |
| RK | receptor kinases |
| RLP | receptor-like proteins |
| Rpi-genes | Resistance genes against Phytophthora infestans |
| SDS-PAGE | sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis |
| STEM | Short Time-series Expression Miner |

1 Introduction

Potato (*Solanum tuberosum*, 2n = 4x = 48), a member of *Solanaceae* family, is one of the most important food crops in the world. The crop has high yield potential and grows in a wide agro-ecological range delivering more than 380 million tons (MT) total annual production (FAO, 2016). Increasing annual potato production in the developing world underlines a growing role of this crop in global food security. However, potato suffers from a multitude of biotic and abiotic stresses, especially in the face of a changing climate.

Ever since causing the Irish potato famine, in the 1840's, late blight disease caused by the notorious oomycete Phytophthora infestans is recognised as the most destructive disease in potato production. The estimated 5 billion US dollars annual losses due to P. infestans (Haverkort et al., 2009) and its wide geographical distribution makes the pathogen one of the most economically significant oomycetes (Kamoun et al., 2014). Use of fungicides to control P. infestans is not affordable or environmentally sustainable. Moreover, evidence shows isolates of the pathogen can develop fungicide resistance (Chowdappaa et al., 2014; Grunwald et al., 2001; Gisi & Cohen, 1996). Therefore, developing potato cultivars resistant against P. infestans, using resistance genes (*R*-gene) from wild species, is considered the most sustainable solution to address this problem. However, the pathogen can also overcome R-gene based resistance (Fry, 2008). To ensure durability of R genes mediated resistance, pyramiding of multiple R genes into a potato genotype is now considered the best strategy. This, enables the plant to recognize multiple effectors of the pathogen, and should decrease the risk of pathogen escape from this multigenic recognition. A multigene strategy has already been used in the new commercial potato cultivar Sarpo Mira (Rietman et al., 2012), which is so far showing stable resistance against P. infestans.

Wild Solanum species carry traits that can be used to improve potato resistance against biotic stresses, including P. infestans. Various resistance genes against P. infestans (Rpi-genes) have been identified in wild Solanum species and some of them have been successfully introduced into potato cultivars (Rodewald & Trognitz, 2013). Due to the pathogen's ability to adapt and overcome host resistance (Haas et al., 2009; Fry, 2008), more resistance sources and a deeper understanding of plant-pathogen interactions are needed to ensure durability of such resistance in potato. Understanding of the interactions between the host and the pathogen using state of the art '-omics' and molecular biology tools will facilitate the efforts of breeders to develop stable resistance in commercial cultivars of potato. Little is known about the effects of the potato-P. infestans interactions and introduction of R-genes into the crop, on host preference of herbivores. Due to ability of the pathogen to overcome host resistance, it is crucial to enhance this resistance by using resistance inducers such as β-aminobutyric acid (BABA) (Bengtsson et al., 2014a; Liljeroth et al., 2010; Olivieri et al., 2009). Furthermore, understanding the status of the innate immunity activation in agricultural fields can help enduser decision making for timely and appropriate application of disease control measures.

The overall aim of this thesis was to enhance our understanding of *Solanum* species interactions with *P. infestans*. Specifically to 1) evaluate the resistance to *P. infestans* in wild *Solanum* species 2) find out if BABA can induce resistance in a wild species 3) demonstrate possible effects of potato-*P. infestans* interactions on herbivore behaviour, 4) to unravel the status of plant innate immunity activation in the field, and 5) to investigate stress response of *Solanum* species growing under field conditions.

Resistance to *P. infestans* of the three wild *Solanum* species (*S. dulcamara, S. nigrum*, and *S. physalifolium*) collected from southern Sweden was characterized. A study of BABA-induced resistance in *S. physalifolium* showed epigenetic inheritance of this induced resistance against *P. infestans*. A transcriptomics approach was used to understand the interactions of the three wild *Solanum* species and three potato clones with *P. infestans*. Moreover, the effects of potato- *Phytophthora* interactions on host plant choice and performance of a generalist moth (*Spodoptera littoralis*) was investigated. By using the presence of pathogenesis related proteins (PR1, PR2-3) as markers, the frequency of innate immunity activation in *S. dulcamara* and *S. nigrum* in natural populations and *S. tuberosum* in agricultural conditions was

investigated. Finally, to understand plant stress response, quantitative proteomics coupled with Activity Based Protein Profiling (ABPP) was used to investigate differences in the apoplastic proteome between greenhouse- and field-grown potato.

2 Background

2.1 Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.)

Cultivated potato (*Solanum tuberosum*, 2n = 4x = 48), traces its origin from the wild species of *Solanum brevicaule* in the Andean highlands of South America (Spooner *et al.*, 2005). The other cultivated potato species is the diploid *Solanum phureja* (or Group Phureja), growing in the eastern valleys of the Andes. This species is selected for early maturity (Bradshaw & Ramsay, 2005). Archaeological evidences suggest domestication of potato ~10,000 years ago in present-day Peru and Chile. Spanish explorers introduced potato into Europe in the 16th century (Ames & Spooner, 2008). Today, potato is the third most important food crop in the world, after wheat and rice. Potato is produced in over 150 countries in the world, covering a wide range of agro-ecological zones. The total area of potato cultivation exceeds 19 million ha, delivering an annual world production of more than 380MT (FAO, 2016). Currently, mainland China is the largest potato producer followed by Russia, India and the United States of America.

A more steady production in developed countries is common, for example, in Sweden potato is an irreplaceable part of the diet (Eriksson *et al.*, 2016). In contrast, the total potato production in developing countries is increasing (Gastelo *et al.*, 2014; Haverkort *et al.*, 2009). Since the majority of humans live in developing countries, increasing potato production in these countries highlights the growing significance of this crop in generating income and as an important contribution to global food security.

Potato is a starch-accumulating tuberous crop and hence a good source of dietary carbohydrates. Compared to the major cereal crops, potato produces more dry-matter and protein per unit growing area. The nutritive value analysis

of potato tubers indicate that it is also a source of good quality protein that can complement the lysine deficiency in cereals (Friedman, 1996). Moreover, potato is an excellent source of minerals including potassium, phosphorus, magnesium and vitamin C, B-1, B-3, and B-6 (Camire *et al.*, 2009; Prokop & Albert, 2008); as well as antioxidants like flavonoids, phenolics, and anthocyanins (Brown, 2005). However, potato also contains gluco-alkaloids like solanin that can be poisonous to humans (Friedman, 2006; Friedman, 1996). In order to keep gluco-alkaloids at low levels, potato tubers should be stored in a dark cool place and peeled before cooking (Prokop & Albert, 2008).

However, whilst there are many benefits to growing and consuming potatoes, as a crop it is susceptible to a wide range of biotic and abiotic stresses. For instance, early blight (*Alternaria solani*), blackleg disease (*Dickeya solani*), viral infections (e.g. *potato virus Y*) as well as yellow potato cyst nematode (*Globodera rostochiensis*) and potato tuber moth (*Phthorimaea operculella*) are known to cause significant yield losses in the crop (Eves-van den Akker *et al.*, 2016; Burra *et al.*, 2015; Odilbekov *et al.*, 2014; Kroschel *et al.*, 2013; Gray *et al.*, 2010). However, the damage caused by *Phytophthora infestans* in potato production is unparalleled (Kamoun *et al.*, 2014; Haverkort *et al.*, 2009). Host plant resistance is an effective, environmentally friendly and sustainable method to protect potato from *P. infestans*.

2.2 Wild Solanum species

Solanum is an economically significant genus of flowering plants. It contains more than 1500 species, including important crops like potato, tomato, and eggplant. Although mainly considered as weeds and usually poisonous to humans and animals, wild *Solanum* species can also be used for food, source of medicine or as ornamentals thus are important source of income, e.g. in Africa (Samuels, 2015; Katambo, 2007). Moreover, wild *Solanum* species can be used as a source of resistance traits to improve the disease resistance of cultivated related species. Conversely they could also be potential alternative hosts of pathogens. Some wild *Solanum* species, for example *S. sisymbriifolium*, *S. physalifolium* and *S. sarrachoides*, are known to be susceptible to *P. infestans* and could play important role as natural reservoirs of the pathogen inoculum (Deahl *et al.*, 2005; Andersson *et al.*, 2003; Flier *et al.*, 2003).

2.2.1 Sources of resistance trait

There are more than 4,000 edible varieties of potato, most of which are growing in the Andean highlands of Peru (http://cipotato.org/potato/).

However, outside of South America, potato has a narrow genetic diversity. This is partly due to limited genetic variance in the germplasm introduced into new areas and inbreeding depression (Potato Genome Sequencing, 2011). Moreover, farmers tend to prefer few high yielding clones adapted to local growing conditions and that deliver marketable products. Intensive potato breeding efforts are aimed at improving disease resistance of the crop. However, the success of conventional potato breeding for resistance to late blight disease is limited by its clonal propagation (Bradshaw et al., 2006). Conventional potato breeding for resistance against P. infestans takes longer than 10 years (Slater et al., 2014). However, P. infestans contains fast evolving effector genes, located in the gene sparse and transposon rich region of the genome (Haas et al., 2009), enabling the pathogen to evade host resistance (Malcolmson & Black, 1966). To cope with P. infestans, developing resistant potato cultivars with several different resistance sources is an attractive method in breeding. Therefore, finding resistance traits particularly genes conferring resistance against P. infestans (Rpi-genes) in wild Solanum species and transfer of these genes into potato is to date the most pursued breeding strategy to improve potato resistance.

Wild Solanum species are the major source of resistance traits used in potato breeding. Since the discovery of major resistance (R-) gene against P. infestans in Solanum demissum, introduction of these R-genes into potato is considered a compelling method to protect the crop (Reddick, 1934). To reduce yield losses resistance genes against P. infestans (aka, Rpi-genes) are cloned from various wild Solanum species and transferred into commercial potato cultivars (Rodewald & Trognitz, 2013; Vleeshouwers et al., 2011; Malcolmson & Black, 1966). So far, 27 Rpi-genes conferring resistance against P. infestans have been cloned from wild Solanum species of South American origin (Rodewald & Trognitz, 2013). However, all the resistance genes cloned so far belong to the CNL class and are from the wild Solanum species adapted to South America; hence they may not recognize all strains of the pathogen. Because of its ability to overcome host resistance, P. infestans is known as 'the plant R-gene destroyer' (Fry, 2008). Therefore, there is a continued interest to find novel Rpi-genes that can be introduced into potato individually or by pyramiding. Whilst Rpi-genes from native South American Solanum species have been well studied, the genetic potential of native European wild Solanum species has so far received little attention and the genetic resource of these species remains untapped.

2.2.2 Wild Solanum species in Sweden

Three species of *Solanum*, which are potential alternative hosts of *P. infestans*, grow in natural habitats and agricultural fields in south Sweden. These are *Solanum dulcamara* L., *Solanum nigrum* L. and *Solanum physalifolium*.

S. dulcamara L., named after the latin dulcis (= sweet) and amarus (= bitter), is widely known as bittersweet nightshade. *S. dulcamara* is a semi-woody perennial species. Since it has a predominantly climbing growth habit, it is also known as climbing nightshade, and its branches may grow up to 2 meters or more. Originally from Europe, *S. dulcamara* is widely distributed and found in diverse habitats including seashores, dense thickets, roadsides, hedgerows, and along the banks of ponds. The leaves are dark green and alternately arranged along the branches at different internode lengths. Often, leaves within the same plant, even on the same branch, exhibit different shapes. For instance, it is not uncommon to find leaves with entire or serrated margins and leaves with or without stipules on the same branch. Flowers are purple with yellow anthers that produce oval or round shaped red berries (Figure 1).

S. dulcamara is a diploid (2n = 2x = 24) out-crossing species (Golas *et al.*, 2010a). It is also a clonal species reproduced by stem cuttings. Despite its limited role in *P. infestans* epidemiology (Golas *et al.*, 2010c), *S. dulcamara* is considered an alternative host of the pathogen (**Paper I**) and (Flier *et al.*, 2003). Using AFLP markers and next-generation sequencing derived SNPs in a crossing population of *S. dulcamara* segregating for *P. infestans* resistance, loci for two putative *R*-genes (*Rpi-dlc1* in chr-9 and *Rpi-dlc2* in chr-10) have been identified (Golas *et al.*, 2013; Golas *et al.*, 2010b). In RNA-seq analysis of *P. infestans* infected leaves of this species we also found *R*-like genes (**Paper II**).

S. nigrum L. (black nightshade), native to the old world Eurasia, is widely distributed in Europe, Asia, Africa, and North America. It is a self-pollinating annual species, weed problem in potato fields (Defelice, 2003). *S. nigrum* plants have decumbent or erect stems, ovate and lanceolate leaves with entire to sinuate-dentate margins, and can grow up to 70 cm high (Edmonds & Chweya, 1997). Flowers are whitish and berries turn purple-black when ripened (Figure 1).

S. nigrum is a highly variable species which can be found in di-tetra- and hexaploid cytotypes (Venkateswarlu & Rao, 1972). The species contains high levels of glycoproteins, including solanine, solamargine, solasonine in its leaves, berries and stem. The medicinal value of *S. nigrum* was known as early

as 870 AD (Katambo, 2007) and it has largely been investigated for its pharmaceutical value. Glycoproteins (Heo & Lim, 2005) and lunasin, a 43-amino acid polypeptide (Jeong *et al.*, 2010), isolated from *S. nigrum* show anticancer property by promoting apoptosis of tumor cells and preventing oxidative DNA damage, respectively.

Despite *S. nigrum* is considered poisonous, its leaves are consumed as vegetables in some countries (Edmonds & Chweya, 1997). *S. nigrum* was considered a non-host to *P. infestans* (Vleeshouwers *et al.*, 2000), but strains of the pathogen that can infect genotypes of this wild species were recently found in Poland and the Netherlands (Lebecka, 2008; Flier *et al.*, 2003). Monogenic dominant inheritance of resistance to *P. infestans* was shown using a crossing population of *S. nigrum* between susceptible and resistant individuals (Lebecka, 2009). This species harbours *R1* orthologs. *R1* is a member of the CC-NBS-LRR resistance gene class, conferring resistance against *P. infestans* (Gyetvai, 2010), by recognition of the Avr1 effector (Du *et al.*, 2015).

S. physalifolium (2n = 2x = 24) also known as hairy nightshade is an annual and self-pollinating species, native to South America but widely distributed. Usually *S. physalifolium* plants grow as small herbs, with light green stems, leaves that are ovate to ovate-lanceolate to trullate, small whitish flowers, and berries that are dark green, purple or brownish-green (Edmonds & Chweya, 1997) (Figure 1). This species is a common weed problem in agricultural fields in Sweden. Recently, *S. physalifolium* has been identified as possible alternate host of *P. infestans* in Sweden, due to its high sensitivity to this pathogen (Andersson *et al.*, 2003). Compared to isolates from potato leaves, isolates of the pathogen from *S. physalifolium* leaves showed shorter latency period and higher sporangia numbers when inoculated on potato leaves (Gronberg *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, *S. physalifolium* might increase aggressiveness of the pathogen (Gronberg *et al.*, 2012) and enhance pathogenicity of the *P. infestans* population in the area.



Figure 1. Morphology of the three wild *Solanum* species growing in southern Sweden: *Solanum nigrum, S. dulcamara* and *S. physalifolium.*

2.3 Phytophthora infestans

2.3.1 The pathogen and mating types

Phytophthora infestans (Mont.) de Bary is an oomycete causing potato late blight and tuber blight. The origin of *P. infestans* is still a debatable topic. Using sequences of nuclear genes and mitochondrial loci, (Gomez-Alpizar *et al.*, 2007) suggested an Andean origin of *P. infestans*. However, phylogenetic analysis based on microsatellite markers and sequences of four nuclear genes, including longer sequences of the β -tubulin gene also used in the previous study (Gomez-Alpizar *et al.*, 2007), suggested a Mexican origin of *P. infestans* (Goss *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, the origin of *P. infestans* still awaits a conclusive study.

The first migration of *P. infestans* out of southern America to Europe and USA is believed to have occurred in the early 19^{th} century (Goodwin *et al.*, 1994). The pathogen was introduced into the rest of the world through the

international trade of seed potatoes (Fry et al., 1993). P. infestans is a heterothallic pathogen with A1 and A2 mating types. Prior to the 1970's the P. infestans population was predominantly the A1 clonal lineage (Fry et al., 1993), and coexistence of both mating types had been previously confined to Mexico (Fry, 2008). Second migration event of P. infestans was from Mexico to Europe in 1976 (Niederhauser, 1991), which might have introduced the A2 clonal lineage (Hohl & Iselin, 1984). At present, both A1 and A2 mating types coexist, e.g. in the Czech Republic (Mazáková et al., 2006), Russia (Beketova et al., 2015), eastern Estonia (Runno-Paurson et al., 2010), the Netherlands (Fry, 1991), and Tunisia (Harbaoui et al., 2014). This coexistence might enable the pathogen to reproduce both sexually and asexually, which may increase genetic recombination and diversity and promote pathogen survival under adverse conditions (Yuen & Andersson, 2013; Fay & Fry, 1997). Coexistence of the A1 and A2 mating types of the P. infestans and oospores production in southern Sweden might suggest sexual reproduction of the pathogen in the area (Yuen & Andersson, 2013; Widmark et al., 2007; Andersson et al., 2003). In Sweden, there is unusually large variation of the P. infestans population within the same field and the A1 and A2 mating types exist in almost 50:50 ratios (Gronberg et al., 2012; Sjöholm, 2012).

Due to similarities in terms of absorptive mode of nutrition, growth by hyphal extension, and reproduction through formation of spores, oomycetes were historically identified as fungi (Money, 1998). However, (Harper *et al.*, 2005) using six genes encoding cytoplasmic proteins showed distinct evolution between the fungi and oomycetes. Furthermore, the cell wall of the oomycete is composed predominantly of glucans and cellulose in contrast to the chitin rich wall of fungi (Fry, 2008). Haas *et al.* (2009) revealed that the *P. infestans* genome has 17, 797 predicted protein coding genes with a large number of effectors genes localized in the gene sparse but repetitive sequences and transposable elements rich region of the genome (Haas *et al.*, 2009). This leads to the 'two speed genome' model, where the effectors containing section of the genome is rapidly evolving thus facilitating adaptive evolution of the pathogen (Dong *et al.*, 2015).

2.3.2 Life cycle and infection process

Late blight disease starts from either aerial or soil borne inoculum, the later usually originates from inoculum surviving on infected tubers, or as soil-borne oospores when conditions favour sexual reproduction. Aerial borne sporangia may penetrate plant tissue directly through formation of a germ tube or indirectly through the release of bi-flagellated zoospores (Figure 2). The later predominantly occurs in high humidity and cool temperatures, whilst direct germination is favoured at higher temperatures with lower relative humidity. Direct or indirect germination is followed by production of a specialised penetration structure, the appressoria, which releases cell-wall degrading enzymes and accumulates turgor pressure to allow the pathogen to breach the host cell wall and enter the plant to initiate infection. The pathogen obtains nutrients from the host by production of haustoria (Birch *et al.*, 2003). The first macroscopic disease symptoms, (small necrotic areas), can be visible two days after penetration (Fry, 2008). Large areas of necrosis appear as the disease progresses. Sporangiophores, bearing sporangia emerging through stomata can be seen on the leaf surface within 3-4 days (Vleeshouwers *et al.*, 2000). Since each sporangium can go on to cause successive cycles of infection, this rapid reproduction of inoculum can lead to complete destruction of the whole field within a few days.

Furthermore, in the presence of both A1 and A2 mating types, sexual reproduction can also occur. The pathogen forms haploid anthridia and oogonia which come together through karyogamy to form diploid oospores. Oospores contribute positively to the long-term survival of the pathogen in the soil through resistance to harsh environmental conditions, as well as to pathogen fitness through sexual recombination. As an inoculum source oospores may directly germinate, produce sporangia and infect stems or leaves that directly contact the soil to further propagate the disease (Figure 2).

To better understand the infection process and biology of the pathogen, many molecular components of *P. infestans* life cycle have been elucidated (Fry, 2008). A large number of P. infestans genes showed differential expression during the life cycle, indicating dynamic structural and physiological difference among the life stages (Judelson et al., 2008). Light conditions and spore-associated transcripts, protein kinase Pks1 and transcription factors Myb2R1 and Myb2R3, play crucial role in sporangia formation during the P. infestans life cycle (Xiang & Judelson, 2014). A protein kinase of P. infestans (Pipkz1) is required for zoospores motility and appressoria formation (Blanco & Judelson, 2005). P. infestans requires active cellulose synthesis for production of appressoria and subsequent penetration and successful infection (Grenville-Briggs et al., 2008). But during the infection process, the plant activates its defence related repertoire in order to restrict the pathogen growth, for example, HR in the penetrated epidermal cells, thickening of cell wall and condensing of the nuclei (Vleeshouwers et al., 2000). Thirty-eight members of the bZIP transcription factor family can be found in the P. infestans genome, some of which protects the pathogen from oxidative stress (Gamboa-Melendez et al., 2013).



Figure 2. Sexual and asexual life cycle of *Phytophthora infestans*. Illustration by Kibrom Berhe Abreha.

2.4 Plant innate immunity

Through evolution plants have developed sophisticated defence responses to thwart pathogen attack. At the same time, pathogens have co-evolved mechanisms to evade host plant defences. Beyond the constitutive level of defence, plants have distinctive inducible defence mechanisms against a broad spectrum of pathogens (Conrath *et al.*, 2002). Plant innate immunity is discerned into pathogen associated molecular pattern (PAMP) triggered immunity (PTI) and Effector triggered immunity (ETI), described by the so called zig-zag model of plant immunity (Figure 3; Jones & Dangl, 2006). According to the zig-zag model (Figure 3), plants detect PAMPs via pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs), which activate PTI. Some pathogens may release effectors to suppress PTI, leading to effector-triggered susceptibility (ETS) (Jones & Dangl, 2006). However, some plants can recognize effectors of the pathogen via NB-LRR proteins and trigger ETI (Jones & Dangl, 2006). The model is widely used to explain plant-microbe interactions. PTI and ETI are regarded as extremes of the continuous plant defense response to the infecting pathogen (Pritchard & Birch, 2014; Thomma *et al.*, 2011). PTI and ETI components of potato in response to *P. infestans* infection are identified and their molecular function partially elucidated.



Figure 3. Zig-zag model of plan innate immunity system (Jones & Dangl, 2006).

2.4.1 PAMPs triggered immunity (PTI)

Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are conserved structural components or molecules of the pathogen. At the onset of an infection attempt, PAMPs are perceived by extracellular domains of host cell surface receptors called pattern recognition receptor proteins (PRR) (Zipfel 2008; Thomma et al. 2011). PRRs are cell-surface localized receptor kinases (RKs) or receptor-like proteins (RLPs) containing a ligand-binding ectodomain, a single-pass transmembrane domain, and sometimes an intracellular kinase domain (Zipfel, 2014). Perception of PAMPs by PRRs activates downstream defence signalling pathways. The leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinase (LRR-RLK) BAK1/SERK3 is central regulator of plant innate immunity against pathogens (Heese et al., 2007). Thus, recognition of PAMPs triggers the defence signalling cascade resulting in PTI (Figure 3), which is the first line of defence, and is often marked by callose deposition and activation of other general defence responses such as the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS).

The cell wall of *P. infestans* plays a crucial role in the infection process and survival of the pathogen. Silencing of the cellulase synthase genes CesA1, CesA2, CesA3, and CesA4 disrupts the cell wall of P. infestans appressoria and leads to complete loss of pathogenicity of the pathogen (Grenville-Briggs et al., 2008). During the infection process, the cell wall components can be recognized by the plant thus trigger host defence signalling. For example, the P. infestans PAMP (PiPE) derived from mycelial wall binds to the Ca2+ dependent protein kinase (CDPK), located upstream of NADPH oxidase in plasma membrane, and induces a hypersensitivity response (HR) in potato (Furuichi, 2014). Similarly, infiltration of potato leaves with conserved motif of peptidase 13 (Pep-13), a constituent of the cell wall transglutaminase (TGase) of Phytophthora species, increases lipoxygenase, 4-coumarate:CoA ligase, SA, JA, and H₂O₂ accumulation in potato (Halim et al., 2009; Halim et al., 2004; Brunner et al., 2002). A cell wall component of P. infestans can increase virulence of the pathogen. For instance, β-glucans isolated from virulent strain of *P. infestans* could inhibit the potato phytoalexin and reduce glucanase accumulation in the host to promote invasion (Andreu et al., 1998).

2.4.2 Effector triggered immunity (ETI)

The PTI results in massive physiological changes important to overcome the infection process. However, to counteract the PTI response from plants, some pathogens secrete effector proteins that are targeted to disrupting PTI defences. This process is called effector-triggered susceptibility (ETS) (Figure 3). However, as a result of the arms race between the plant and pathogen, resistant hosts are endowed with another layer of defence, effector-triggered immunity (ETI) (Figure 3).

Recognition of intracellular effectors, secreted from pathogens into host cells occurs through the activation of major resistance gene (*R*-gene) encoded receptors. *R*-genes trigger host defence signalling cascades resulting in ETI. *R* genes encode resistance proteins most of which are of the nucleotide-binding-leucine-rich-repeat (NB-LRR) type (Rodewald & Trognitz, 2013; Zhang *et al.*, 2013). This recognition of the effector proteins by the NBS-LRRs initiates ETI responses that can specifically inhibit pathogen growth.

P. infestans genome contains two major effector families: ~563 genes encoding RXLR effectors and ~200 genes encoding crinklers (CRN) (Haas *et al.*, 2009). RXLR effectors are secreted proteins with N-terminal region containing the Arg-X-Leu-Arg (in which X represents any amino acid) motif

that is required for delivery of the effectors into host cells (Kamoun, 2006). Fast evolving C-terminal region of the RXLR effectors is required for manipulating host defence (Win *et al.*, 2007). CRN are cytoplasmic effectors, containing conserved N-terminal with ~50-amino-acid LFLAK domain, diversified DWL domain, and 60% of them also have predicted signal peptide (Haas *et al.*, 2009). The C-terminal of CRN effectors contains diversified domain structures (Haas *et al.*, 2009). Some of the RXLR and CRN effectors have been experimentally verified, and their function as virulence (causing disease) and avirulence factors (triggering host plant) have been elucidated.

Compared to expression in growth media, seventy nine RxLR genes encoding *P. infestans* effector proteins including the Avr3a, Avr4, and Avrblb1 (ipiO), were highly expressed during potato infection (Haas *et al.*, 2009). Recognition of the Avr4 by R4 (van Poppel *et al.*, 2008) and Avrblb1 by Rpi-blb1 resulting in ETI have been reported (Vleeshouwers *et al.*, 2008). The cytoplasmic effector Avr3a interacts with E3 Ubiquitin Ligase CMPG1 to suppress the INF1-induced cell death which is a form of PTI (Bos *et al.*, 2010). The suppressing effect of Avr3a can be abolished if recognized by host plants containing the resistance gene R3a (Armstrong *et al.*, 2005). Similarly, the PexRD8 and PexRD3645-1 effectors of *P. infestans* could also suppress this INF1- induced cell death (Oh *et al.*, 2009). Recently, PexRD2 was found to suppress MAPKKK-induced cell death and enhance susceptibility to *P. infestans* (King *et al.*, 2014).

The *P. infestans* Avr2 should be associated with putative plant phosphatase BSU-LIKE PROTEIN1 (BSL1) to be recognized by the R2 protein (Saunders et al., 2012) but only 32aa region in the C-terminal of Avrblb2 is required to initiate Rpi-blb2 mediated HR (Oh et al., 2009). The Rpi-vnt1.2 and Rpivnt1.3 but not their truncated versions, indel of 33 amino acids in their Nterminal region, recognize the Avrvnt1 effector (Pel, 2010). However, the pathogen can also exploit components of the plant, known as susceptibility factors, to supress the defence response and promote host invasion. For example, to suppress INF1-mediated cell death, P. infestans RXLR effector (Pi02860) needs presence of the potato NPH3/RPT2-LIKE1 (NRL1) protein (Yang et al., 2016). Other RXLR effectors, Pi04089 and Pi04314, are known to interact respectively with host K-homology (KH) RNA-binding protein (KRBP1) and protein phosphatase PP1 catalytic subunits to promote the pathogen leaf colonization (Boevink et al., 2016). A Putative RXLR effector (PITG_03192) promotes disease development by interacting with NAC (NAM/ATAF/CUC) transcription factors and preventing its re-localization from endoplasmic reticulum (ER) into nucleus (McLellan *et al.*, 2013). Recently, Vetukuri *et al.* (2017) identified *P. infestans* effector (PITG_14054) involved in suppression of RNA silencing in *Nicotiana benthamiana*, and it showed increased expression during early infection of a susceptible potato cv. Bintje.

Another major family of effectors is the Crinklers (CRN). 196 genes encoding CRN proteins reside in the sequenced *P. infestans* strain, and showed increased expression during potato infection (Haas *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, CRN proteins are present in abundance during different life stages of the pathogen (Meijer *et al.*, 2014; Resjo *et al.*, 2014), indicating that they could be involved in promoting host colonisation by the pathogen. By mining the ESTs sequences of *P. infestans* extracellular proteins, Torto *et al.* (2003) identified CRN1 and CRN2 expressed during tomato infection. The CRN8 kinase is secreted into the nucleus of the host cell and enhances virulence of *P. infestans* on *N. benthamiana* (van Damme *et al.*, 2012). The extracellular, cytoplasmic and nuclear localization of the effectors suggest that multiple host targets localized in the respective cellular compartments could be simultaneously targeted by the pathogen. In a resistant genotype, the recognition of PAMPs and effector proteins trigger downstream defence signalling cascade which results in PTI or ETI, restricting pathogen growth.

2.4.3 Solanum species stress response in field conditions

It is well known that plant responses to potential pathogens and/or herbivores may effect subsequent defence responses (Zamioudis & Pieterse, 2012), and host choice and performance of herbivores (Zakir *et al.*, 2013; Jallow *et al.*, 2008; Anderson & Alborn, 1999). Moreover, abiotic stresses also affect defence responses to microbes and herbivores; a cross-talk between biotic and abiotic stress response pathways is well known (Rejeb *et al.*, 2014). Due to compounding stress factors, which may be largely absent in controlled conditions, field-grown plant defence responses to these stresses are complex (Cramer *et al.*, 2011).

The zig-zag model of plant-microbe interactions (Jones & Dangl, 2006), assumes a single plant-pathogen interaction. However, the model does not consider the continuous presence and recognition of multiple pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and effectors as well as the abiotic stresses in field and natural populations (**Paper V**). Moreover, in field conditions other interactions such as plant-plant interactions may affect plant

fitness and the composition of communities (Brooker, 2006). This in turn is likely to have a knock-on effect on plant defence responses to pests, pathogens and herbivores.

2.4.4 Apoplast: the frontier in plant-pathogen interaction

The apoplast is a compartment of plant tissue comprising the extracellular space and cell wall. The soluble fraction within this compartment known as the apoplastic fluid contains a myriad of proteins involved in biological processes related to maintaining cell wall structure, plant-pathogen interactions, responses to abiotic stresses, and nutrient transport (Andreasson et al., 2017; Delaunois et al., 2014; Alexandersson et al., 2013). During the course of infection, an array of pathogen effector proteins are secreted, some of which target processes inside the cell and some of which target the apoplast. P. infestans apoplastic effectors such as protease inhibitors, cysteine rich proteins, and nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase (NPP1) family members were in higher abundance during early infection of potato (Haas et al., 2009). P. infestans also releases small extracellular proteins like elicitins INF1, INF2A, INF5 and INF6 (Du, 2014) into the apoplast. Furthermore, many proteins involved in plant defence like pathogenicity related proteins (PR1), P69B, and serine hydrolases are secreted into the apoplast by the host, presumably in response to perceived attack by potential pathogens (Ali et al., 2014; Sueldo et al., 2014). Hundreds of proteins with differential abundance can be found in the apoplastic secretome of potato infected with P. infestans (Ali et al., 2014). This highlights the importance of the apoplastic compartment to understand the potato-P. infestans pathosystem.

2.5 The -Omics of potato-Phytophthora pathosystem

The perception of *P. infestans* signatures by potato and the ability of the pathogen to evade host defence indicates a complex network of interactions between the plant and the pathogen (Birch *et al.*, 2003). Recent studies on plant-pathogen interactions are benefiting from the advancements in molecular biology methods and fast developing sequencing platforms (Burra *et al.*, 2016). The -omics techniques (transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics) play a crucial role in aiding our understanding of the underlying molecular events taking place during the infection process. Moreover, use of these techniques facilitates identification of candidate proteins for functional analysis.

2.5.1 Potato-P. infestans interaction transcriptome

Sequencing the potato genome unravelled that the crop's ~844-megabase (Mb) genome contains predicted 39,031 protein coding genes (Potato Genome Sequencing, 2011). A transcriptome analysis of 32 potato tissues, including leaves inoculated with *P. infestans*, provided a database of tissue-specific expression of transcripts (Massa *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, the *P. infestans* genome has been sequenced, and is known to be ~240 Mb containing 17,797 protein-coding genes (Haas *et al.*, 2009). RNA-seq analysis in two *P. infestans* strains revealed transcriptome differences among life stages hyphae, sporangia, sporangia undergoing zoosporogenesis, motile zoospores, and germinated cysts (Ah-Fong *et al.*, 2017). Such genomic and transcriptome sequences of the plant and the pathogen are useful sources to understand the pathosystem and crop response to multiple stresses.

A large number of potato and *P. infestans* genes are up- or down-regulated during the infection process, and the total set of transcript changes is termed the interaction transcriptome (Birch *et al.*, 2003). Previously, microarray analysis has been the predominant technique used for transcriptome profiling during compatible and incompatible interactions (Sierra *et al.*, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2005). However, due to its capacity in detecting low abundance transcripts, differentiating biologically critical isoforms, and allowing the identification of genetic variants the Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) of RNA (RNA-seq) techniques is now preferred over microarray analysis (Zhao *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, due to the continuous reduction of sequencing prices and improvements in data handling methods, most of the recent transciptome profiling studies are using RNA-seq techniques.

Large numbers of differentially expressed transcripts were identified in potato-*P. infestans* infection (Ali *et al.*, 2014). As pointed out by the authors, the different sets of expressed transcripts may indicate the biotrophic and necrotrophic phases of the infection processes. This type of output is important to identify resistance gene candidates in either or both phases of the interaction. Prior to transcriptome assembly, sequence reads of the pathogen from RNA-seq data of infected potato leaves could be extracted by mapping the dataset to the *P. infestans* genome and filtering sequence reads which mapped uniquely to the genome (**Paper III**). In doing so, RNA-seq identifies a set of RXLR effectors of *P. infestans* expressed in infected potato (Gao *et al.*, 2013).

2.5.2 Proteomics of the potato-Phytophthora pathosystem

Detection of more than 20,000 expressed genes in a transcriptome studies (Massa *et al.*, 2011) suggests that large number of proteins are involved in plant response to biotic and abiotic stresses. Proteomics studies identified life stage specific proteins of the pathogen, including the CRN2 (Ebstrup *et al.*, 2005) and phosphorylated proteins of RXLR and CRN effector families (Resjo *et al.*, 2014). Proteins involved in cell wall modifications, pathogenesis,

defence responses, and proteolytic process were identified (Meijer *et al.*, 2014). Grenville-Briggs *et al.* (2010) also identified appressorial and mycelial cell wall proteins, several of them classified as PAMPs and CRN effectors. Moreover, amino acid biosynthesis genes such as methionine synthase threonine synthase were with higher abundance in *P. infestans*, during appressorium formation and potato infection (Grenville-Briggs *et al.*, 2005). Such studies may provide valuable insights to understand establishment of infection process and pathogenicity of the pathogen, and may help to accurately predict developmental stages of the pathogen which could be targeted with chemical or biological control methods. However, the above studies have been performed on *in vitro* grown *P. infestans* and may not reproduce the proteome profile of the pathogen when grown *in planta*.

Potato proteins which are either involved in recognizing the pathogen or signalling transduction are localized in different compartments of the plant cell. The proteome of cell wall, cytoplasmic (Lim et al., 2012) and apoplastic fluid (Ali et al., 2014) components of potato leaf tissue have been profiled. Secreted proteins, containing N-terminal signal peptides, residing in the apoplastic fluid may play a crucial role in plant-pathogen interactions. The methods to isolate and identify these proteins have been discussed in a review by Alexandersson et al. (2013). Simultaneous isolation of the proteins in the cell wall, cytoplasm. and apoplastic fluid would be of great interest to get a more global proteome profile. Some proteins could be isolated whilst on their secretion pathway and contamination of a sample with materials from other compartments is inevitable. A differential centrifugation approach has been used to separately isolate cell wall and cytoplasmic proteins of the same potato leaf samples. However, even at low centrifugal forces $(1500 \times g)$, cell wall proteins were contaminated by proteins from other organelles (Lim et al., 2012). Due to tissue maceration after pathogen infection, a less disruptive and reproducible method should be used to isolate proteins in different sub-cellular compartments. For precise proteomics analysis of specific organelles, laser micro-dissection has been used to study layers of epidermal cells from Arabidopsis leaves (Faltert et al., 2015). However, non-destructive in planta secretome sampling methods are yet to be developed.

2.6 BABA-induced resistance

Induced resistance can be described as potentiation of basal defence mechanisms of plants against biotic and abiotic stresses (Alexandersson *et al.*, 2016). A non-proteinaceous amino acid β -aminobutyric acid (BABA) is a potent inducer of plant defence against biotic and abiotic stresses (Jakab *et al.*, 2001). Application of BABA induces both local and systemic resistance in different pathosystems and reduced potential pathogen infection in potato (Alexandersson *et al.*, 2016; Bengtsson *et al.*, 2014a; Liljeroth *et al.*, 2010;

Olivieri *et al.*, 2009; Altamiranda *et al.*, 2008; Si-Ammour *et al.*, 2003). A combination of BABA with the commercial fungicide Shirlan can reduce the total fungicide usage by 20-25%, whilst still adequately protecting potato against late blight under field conditions (Liljeroth et al. 2010). Thus, BABA may play crucial role in reducing fungicide use against *P. infestans*.

The BABA induced resistance (BABA-IR) against pathogens is related to an elevated expression of basal defence system in plants, a process known as priming (Ton & Mauch-Mani, 2004). Treatment of Arabidopsis with BABA leads to a faster and higher expression of defence related genes from the salicylic acid pathway and plants show enhanced defences against P. syringae (Slaughter et al., 2012). In addition, increased expression of Jasmonic aciddependent genes, the (lipoxygenase, LOX-9; and PR-4), enhanced resistance of BABA-treated grapevine (Vitis vinifera) against the oomycete downy mildew (Plasmopara viticola) (Hamiduzzaman et al., 2005). The phytohormones, jasmonic acid (JA) and salicylic acid (SA) are important in plant defence response to multiple stresses. BABA treatment also enhances general defence responses such as callose deposition and accumulation of PR1 in potato (Floryszak-Wieczorek et al., 2015). Direct restriction of P. infestans growth after treatment of potato with BABA has also been observed (Floryszak-Wieczorek et al., 2015; Bengtsson et al., 2014a). Moreover, BABA-induced resistance transduces into the next generation as shown in potato (Floryszak-Wieczorek et al., 2015) and its wild relative S. physalifolium (Paper II). BABA-IR is inherited epigenetically; hence, the information from parents to offspring is transferred without changes in the DNA sequence. It has been reported that chromatin modification and DNA-methylation in Arabidopsis (Luna et al., 2012; Slaughter et al., 2012), play important role in transgenerational stability of BABA-IR against Pseudomonas syringae.

Potato cultivars show differences in efficacy of BABA-induced resistance against *P. infestans* (Liljeroth *et al.*, 2010; Olivieri *et al.*, 2009; Altamiranda *et al.*, 2008). The mechanisms of action, transgenerational stability of BABA-IR, and molecular determinants of genotype sensitivity to BABA treatment remain to be elucidated.

2.7 Effects of potato-*P.infestans* interactions on herbivore behaviour

Plant responses to pathogen attack involve activation of a myriad of defence signalling pathways. During the *P. infestans* infection process, a large number

of plant genes are up/down regulated, which may lead to changes in abundance of large number of proteins (Ali *et al.*, 2014; Bengtsson *et al.*, 2014b; Burra *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, *P. infestans* infection alters the volatile ((E)-2-hexenal, 5-ethyl-2(5H)-furanone and benzene-ethanol) and non-volatile (phytoalexins, glycoalkaloids and phenolics) metabolite composition of potato plants (Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2010; Andreu *et al.*, 2001).

The changes in plant appearance due to infection, as well as the plant defense response can affect host plant choice and performance of insects. For instance, inoculation of potato with *P. infestans* alters host choice behavior of the polyphagous moth *Spodoptera littoralis*, which is an invasive pest species in southern Europe (**Paper IV**). The C2H2 zinc finger transcription factor induced by *P. infestans* in potato was also induced by the generalist tobacco hornworm (THW, *Manduca sexta* L.) and the specialist Colorado potato beetle (Lawrence *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, the tomato resistance gene (Mi-1 gene) is known to confer resistance to potato aphid (*Macrosiphum euphorbiae*), whitefly (*Bemisia tabaci*), and root-knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp.) (Kaloshian, 2004). This indicates that there is a shared plant defence pathways against multiple biotic stresses. Therefore, it is crucial to extend pathogen resistance studies by assessing potential effects in non-target organisms.

3 Aim and Objectives

The overall aims of this thesis were 1) to enhance the molecular understanding of the interactions between *Solanum* species and *P. infestans*, by investigating transcriptome of the interaction, induced resistance against the pathogen in these species and evaluating the potential effects of the pathosystem on behaviour of a herbivore, and 2) to study the stress response of *Solanum* species growing in agricultural fields and natural conditions to help design and apply disease control measures. The specific objectives of this thesis were to:

- Evaluate the resistance to *P. infestans* of the three wild Solanum species in Sweden: *S. dulcamara*, *S. nigrum* and *S. physalifolium* (Paper I)
- Determine the direct effects and non-genetic inheritance of BABAinduced resistance against *P. infestans* in *S. physalifolium* (Paper II)
- Analyse the transcriptome of three wild Solanum species and three potato clones with varying resistance towards *P. infestans* (Paper III)
- Find out if potato-P. infestans interactions and introduction of an Rpigene into a crop affects host plant preference of the generalist insect herbivore, Spodoptera littoralis (Paper IV)
- Probe the level of activation of innate immunity in *Solanum* species growing in natural conditions and agricultural fields (**Paper V**)
- Investigate the apoplastic proteome of potato grown in greenhouse and field conditions, and identify putative peptide biomarkers to help link studies in these growing conditions (Paper VI)
4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Solanum-P. infestans interactions and response to stress in field condition

In order to study the interactions of different Solanum species with P. infestans and unravel the biology of host plant stress response under natural conditions, several experiments were performed (Figure 4). Seeds of three wild Solanum species (S. dulcamara, S. nigrum and S. physalifolium) growing in southern Sweden were collected, grown and screened for resistance against P. infestans. Using S. physalifolium as a study system, direct and transgenerational BABAinduced resistance was investigated. To understand Solanum-Phytophthora interactions transcriptome analysis was performed in the three wild Solanum species and three potato clones (Desirée, Sarpo Mira and SW93-1015) with varying resistance level against the pathogen. Furthermore, to understand the Solanum species response to stresses in natural conditions, the presence or absence of pathogenicity related (PR) proteins were used as markers to estimate the frequency of activation of innate immunity in the field. Finally, the apoplastic proteome of field and greenhouse grown potato (Bintje) was analysed using quantitative proteomics and activity based protein profiling (Figure 4), to get insight into functional status of the proteins.



Figure 4. Overview of the relationship between plant material, experiments performed and papers in this thesis. The central aim of this work was to understand the interactions between *Solanum* species and *P. infestans*. Furthermore, activation of innate immunity as a proxy for a general response of plants to biotic stress in natural conditions was explored.

4.2 *Phytophthora* resistance in Swedish wild *Solanum* species (Paper I, II)

Phytophthora infestans is infamous as the causal agent of the great Irish famine in 1840's, and continues to cause huge yield losses in potato production, globally. Wild *Solanum* species are source of novel *P. infestans* resistance traits that can be used in potato breeding. The first step towards identifying the required resistance traits in these species for potato breeding programs is to identify which species act as alternate hosts of the pathogen. As a result of continuously evolving host-pathogen interactions, the unusually diverse *P. infestans* population structure found in Sweden (Sjöholm, 2012) might lead to variable defence mechanisms in the *Solanum* species. Since the *Solanum* species present in Sweden are native to Northern Europe, the resistance properties of these plants could be well adapted to the colder conditions prevalent in northern Europe. Therefore, we investigated resistance to *P. infestans* in the three wild *Solanum* species: *S. dulcamara*, *S. nigrum* and *S. physalifolium* growing in natural habitats in southern Sweden (**Paper I**). To ensure sustainability of resistance, it is crucial to augment one host resistance source with other resistance genes or with other mechanisms such as induced resistance. Plants with induced resistance show enhanced or earlier activation of defence reactions against subsequent pathogen infection attempts. A non-proteinaceous amino acid β -aminobutyric acid (BABA) can induce plant resistance against multiple pathogens, including potato resistance against P. infestans (Bengtsson et al., 2014a; Liljeroth et al., 2010). However, all the previous studies on BABA-induced resistance were performed on cultivated plants. Studying the role of BABA in resistance induction in wild species, directly collected from natural populations, is crucial to understand the importance of the induced resistance in nature. Furthermore, the study of this resistance inducer in a natural system will allow us to assess the evolution of induced resistance. Therefore, we have investigated if BABA can induce resistance against P. infestans and the transgenerational effect of this BABA-IR in S. physalifolium (Paper II). This wild Solanum species is susceptible to the pathogen (Gronberg et al., 2012; Sjöholm, 2012) with no known resistance to P. infestans (Paper I).

We collected seeds of *S. dulcamara*, *S. nigrum* and *S. physalifolium* from plants growing in natural habitats in southern Sweden. Ten accessions from three populations of *S. physalifolium* (**Paper I** and **Paper II**), 164 accessions of *S. dulcamara* from 12 populations, and 75 accessions from 20 *S. nigrum* populations were used in this study (**Paper I**).

Resistance tests against *P. infestans* were performed using both detached leaf assays and field assessments (**Paper I** and **Paper II**). After removing leaves for detached leaf assays, plants were acclimatized for one-week in greenhouse and transferred into the experimental garden located at Alnarp (55° 66'N, 13° 08'E). Experiments were performed at this garden in 2012, 2013 and 2014. During each experiment quantitative (lesion area) and qualitative (resistance classification) measurements were taken at 7 days after inoculation with *P. infestans* (**Paper I**).

Resistance screening with material from controlled conditions showed that lesions were significantly larger in *S. physalifolium* compared to those in *S. nigrum* and *S. dulcamara* (**Paper I**, Figure 3). Moreover, all the *S. physalifolium* accessions showed a susceptibility reaction (S phenotype) to *P. infestans* (**Paper I**, Figure 4). In 2013 we planted 48 clonally propagated plants of two *S. physalifoium* genotypes at the experimental garden. These plants were naturally heavily infected by *P. infestans*. These plants shed infected

leaves, but rather than succumbing to full infection and subsequent death of the plant (the typical response of susceptible potato cultivars), these S. physalifolium were able to regrow new leaves (Paper I, Figure 2). Shedding of the blighted leaves and regrowth in this species can be a defence mechanism against the pathogen. In 2003, it was reported for the first time that S. physalifolium is an alternative host of P. infestans in Sweden (Andersson et al., 2003). This finding was later followed by a study that shows P. infestans strains maintained on S. physalifolium leaves have higher aggressiveness upon subsequent infection of potato than the same strains maintained on potato leaves (Gronberg et al., 2012). Our study was the first to screen the resistance of accessions from different populations of S. physalifolium. In the field experiment in 2013, all the S. physalifolium plants were heavily infected, which is in agreement with the previous studies (Gronberg et al., 2012; Sjöholm, 2012). Defoliation of blighted leaves could be survival mechanism but the fallen leaves may increase local soil inoculum highlighting the significance of S. physalifolium in P. infestans epidemiology in Sweden. Given the susceptibility of this plant to P. infestans, we have used S. physalifolium to study transgenerational stability of BABA-induced resistance (Paper II).

In contrast to S. physalifolium, all 75 S. nigrum accessions were either asymptomatic (R phenotype) or developed a necrotic lesion smaller or equal to the point of inoculation (\mathbb{R}^{N} phenotype) (**Paper I**, Figure 4 and 5). S. nigrum was not naturally infected by P. infestans in 2012, which indicates that in Sweden this species has a high level of resistance to P. infestans. S. nigrum was referred to in previous studies as a non-host of *P. infestans* (Vleeshouwers et al., 2000; Platt, 1999; Pieterse et al., 1994). So far no P. infestans isolate from southern Sweden has been shown to infect S. nigrum (Andersson et al., 2003), however, isolates of the pathogen that can infect S. nigrum have been found in Poland (Lebecka, 2008). R-gene based resistance and the presence of putative R-genes was reported previously in this species (Lebecka, 2008; Flier et al., 2003). Moreover, we identified R-gene like sequences in transcriptomic analysis of S. nigrum-P. infestans interactions (Paper III). This indicates that this species may be a good source of novel resistance alleles against P. infestans, which may be potentially mined for use in European breeding programs.

In 2012, we found diverse resistance phenotypes in *S. dulcamara*. This diversity was consistently noted both in material from controlled conditions and from the experimental garden. In addition to the three phenotypes described earlier (R, \mathbb{R}^{N} , and S) we identified a fourth resistance phenotype (S^L- a lesion larger than the point of inoculation) (**Paper I**, Figure 2) in *S. dulcamara*. Despite identification of these diverse resistance phenotypes, no

natural infections were observed in *S. dulcamara* during the seasons 2012-2014 in the Alnarp experimental garden. This is consistent with previous reports that it is a rare event to find natural *P. infestans* infections in *S. dulcamara* (Flier *et al.*, 2003; Cooke *et al.*, 2002). In comparison to *S. physalifolium*, the lesions in *S. dulcamara* were smaller, even in the most susceptible interaction.

Due to the diverse resistance phenotypes observed in the *S. dulcamara* accessions, we expanded the experiment by adding new accessions in 2013. The new accessions were screened for resistance against *P. infestans* in controlled conditions and then transferred into the experimental garden. In total, in 2013 and 2014, we screened 164 *S. dulcamara* accessions in the experimental garden, representing 34 sibling groups, obtained form 12 populations in southern Sweden (**Paper I**, Figure 1). The results show that indeed there are four resistance phenotypes (R, R^N, S^L, and S) in *S. dulcamara* however the proportion of these phenotypes changed across the years (**Paper I**, Figure 5). Sibling accessions of this species showed different resistance phenotypes (**Paper I**, Table 2). Moreover, in *S. dulcamara*, the lesion size was negatively correlated with many of the performance parameters measured in 2013 at the experimental garden (**Paper I**, Figure 8).

In a previously reported resistance screening of European S. dulcamara accessions, it was rare to find both resistance and susceptible accessions within the same collection site (Golas et al., 2010b). Therefore, the resistance variation in our material that shows differences within a population, and even between sibling accessions, is highly novel. S. dulcamara is an out-crossing species Golas et al. (2010a). Thus the differences in resistance to P. infestans within the sibling groups (plants generated from seeds of the same wild parent) could be a result of the out-crossing nature and recombination ability of this species (Paper I). The diverse resistance phenotypes in this species may also indicate that diverse resistance mechanisms against P. infestans are present in S. dulcamara (Huang et al., 2005; Vleeshouwers et al., 2000). Previously in this species, two loci containing putative resistance genes, *Rpi-dlc1* and *Rpi*dlc2, were mapped to chr-9 and chr-10 respectively (Golas et al., 2013; Golas et al., 2010b). By isolating genomic DNA from one of the accessions, and designing primers based on the predicted NBS-LRR gene sequence, we have cloned the putative gene and confirmed that it has 100% sequence similarity with the reference BAC-sequence. Functional analysis of this putative resistance gene (Rpi-gene) against P. infestans is currently underway.

P. infestans contains fast evolving effector genes, located in a highly dynamic and expanded region of its transposon rich genome (Haas *et al.*, 2009). The two-speed architecture of the genome allows the pathogen to carry out faster adaptive evolution (Dong *et al.*, 2015). As a result, beyond using host

resistance, it is important to understand other control mechanisms that can be used to develop integrated late blight disease management systems in potato. For example, the use of BABA can reduce the need for so many fungicide applications since it has been suggested that this BABA-induced resistance can be used in combination with other management practices to reduce potential effects of *P. infestans* (Liljeroth *et al.*, 2010). To understand this induced resistance inducers (**Paper II**). Since the plant material is directly collected from natural populations it is also important to understand the basic biology of this induced resistance.

To find out if BABA can induce resistance against *P. infestans, S. physalifolium* plants were sprayed with BABA and three days later tested for resistance against the pathogen using detached leaf assays (**Paper II**). Using *Arabidopsis thaliana*, (Slaughter *et al.*, 2012) showed a transgenerational effect of BABA-induced resistance against the bacterial pathogen, *Pseudomonas syringae*. To test for a similar transgenerational stability of BABA-induced resistance against *P. infestans* in wild species, seeds were collected and used to generate offspring from the sprayed and unsprayed *S. physalifolium* plants. These plants were then tested for resistance against the pathogen (**Paper II**).

BABA treatment significantly reduced lesion area in two of the three genotypes (Paper II, Figure 2A and 2B). As previously reported in cultivated potato (Bengtsson et al., 2014a; Liljeroth et al., 2010), BABA can induce resistance against P. infestans in S. physalifolium. Seeds of BABA treated genotypes that showed direct BABA-induced resistance as well as control plants, were collected and used to generate next generation plants (S1). Before BABA treatment, these S1 plants were tested for resistance against P. infestans and descendants of one of the genotypes showed higher levels of resistant to P. infestans than descendants of control plants (Paper II, Figure 3), suggesting a transgenerational effect of BABA treatment. It was also previously reported that potato cultivars showed different degrees of inducibility after BABAtreatment (Liljeroth et al., 2010). We hypothesize that the differences in BABA responsiveness among S. physalifolium plants might be due to differences in the surface structure and chemistry of the leaves (Balmer et al., 2015; Pastor et al., 2014). BABA-induced resistance can be transferred into the next vegetative progeny of potato (Floryszak-Wieczorek et al., 2015) and in bacteria inoculated descendants of Arabidopsis generated from seeds of treated plants (Slaughter et al., 2012). Our study, for the first time, confirmed that BABA can induce resistance against P. infestans in a wild species directly originated form seeds in wild populations. Furthermore, this induced resistance can be transferred into the next generation. Induction of plant defence typically involves changes in gene expression, protein abundance and metabolites, and thus IR may have a fitness cost (Alexandersson et al., 2016). However, BABAinduced resistance did not affect seed traits (weight of berries and weight per seed) under field conditions, in our study. This indicates that it may not significantly affect the fitness of *S. physalifolium* plants (**Paper II**). Further studies on this wild species may give meaningful insight into the molecular mechanisms of BABA-induced resistance in economically important crops; especially with regards to susceptibility genes and the potential role of induced resistance in nature.

4.3 Understanding the *Solanum-P. infestans* interactions and effects on a generalist moth (Paper III and IV)

Screening of the wild *Solanum* species for *P. infestans* resistance showed that *S. physalifolium* is susceptible and *S. nigrum* is resistant whereas *S. dulcamara* showed variation in resistance to *P. infestans* (**Paper I**). To enhance our understanding of the plant response in the three wild *Solanum* species and cultivated *S. tuberosum* against *P. infestans*, transcriptome analysis was performed on inoculated leaves of these species (**Paper II**).

Based on the *P. infestans* resistance screening using detached leaf assays one individual accession from each wild *Solanum* species, and three potato clones with varying resistance levels against the pathogen were selected for transcriptome analysis (**Paper III**). RNA was isolated from this material and RNA-seq data generated using next generation sequencing (Illumina HiSeq2000 platform). Sequence reads belonging to *P. infestans* were identified by mapping our obtained sequence data to the publically available *P. infestans* genome using TopHat2 (Kim *et al.*, 2013), and were analyzed separately. The remaining RNA-seq data was *de novo* assembled using trinity (Grabherr *et al.*, 2011) (**Paper III**).

To identify transcript families expanded or depleted in response to the pathogen both quantitative and qualitative groups were created. The quantitative group was assembled from sequence related to a gradient vector based on the results of the resistance assay and the qualitative group from sequences related to resistant vs. susceptible species and clones. Significantly different numbers of transcript families was found depleted in the resistance vs susceptible groups as well as among the wild Solanum species and the three potato clones (Paper III). Furthermore, functional annotation of the expanded transcript families using Gene ontology (GO) for functional characterisation analysis (Li et al., 2003), identified terms associated to plant defense. GO terms such as protein phosphorylation, defense response, hypersensitive response, host programmed cell death induced by symbiont and aspartic-type endopeptidase activity were expanded in the resistance group (Paper III; Figure 4; Figure S2). Expanded transcript families in the susceptible group were populated by terms such as lipoprotein biosynthetic process, signal transduction, protein acylation, transmembrane transport and nitrogen biosynthesis (Paper III, Figure 4; Figure S2). A putative susceptible factor, the

cytokinin-regulated kinase 1 (CRK1) (Schafer & Schmulling, 2002) was found in this group. However, in the susceptible group we also found a few enriched GO terms associated with plant defence response, which might reflect the basal PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI) present in the susceptible hosts (Jones & Dangl, 2006). In addition, transcript families containing susceptibility factors and genes were identified in the susceptible group.

The *Solanum* genome contains hundreds of resistance gene (R) homologues, mostly containing the nucleotide-binding-leucine-rich-repeat (NB-LRR) domains (Witek *et al.*, 2016; Andolfo *et al.*, 2014; Jupe *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, we mined our data for R-gene like sequences to find out the number and type of these genes expressed during the *Solanum-Phytophthora* interactions. By identifying sequences containing NB-LRR domains (Jupe *et al.*, 2012) and BLAST analysis to the 112 reference R-genes from the Plant Resistance Genes database (Sanseverino *et al.*, 2013); different types of R-gene homologues (CNL, TNL, RLP, and RLK) were identified in the wild *Solanum* accessions and potato clones (**Paper III**, Table 3). The results indicate that it is possible to identify potentially functional resistance genes against P. *infestans* (Rpi-genes), by employing RNA-seq based transcriptome analysis of infected leaves.

We also analyzed sequences in our dataset that were identified as from *P. infestans* in order to find the pathogenicity factors used by the pathogen to promote disease in these different host species and clones. Analysis of the *P. infestans* transcripts identified a total of 7769, 2612, 1471, 892, and 73 *S. physalifolium, S. nigrum,* SW93-1015, Desirée, and *S. dulcamara*, induced transcripts respectively (**Paper III**, Table 5). *P. infestans* uses pathogencity factors, RXLR and crinkler effectors, to colonize and manipulate host cells. Different numbers of RXLR effectors, Crinkler effectors (CRN) and elicitins were identified in our dataset (**Paper III**, Table5; Table S8). However, the number of *P. infestans* transcripts and pathogenicity factors identified did not follow the resistance gradient. For instance, the number of putative pathogenicity factors identified in the dataset from the susceptible cv. Desirée (**Paper III**, Table 5). This might highlight different resistance mechanisms and strategies of the pathogens to overcome these resistances.

The perception of *P. infestans* leads to signaling transduction and phenotypic changes, which include changes in the metabolic profile of the plant. In the transcriptome analysis study (**Paper III**), we identified *R*-gene like sequences and putative *P. infestans* pathogenicity factors. During potato-*Phytophthora* interactions, large numbers of transcripts and proteins show differential abundance (Ali *et al.*, 2014). Moreover, *P. infestans* infection alters the volatile and non-volatile profiles of potato (Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2010; Andreu *et al.*, 2001). To reduce potato yield losses caused by *P. infestans* introduction of

R genes is considered as one of the most powerful management strategies (Fry, 2008). However, studies investigating the effects of inoculation with *P. infestans* and introduction of *R*-genes into potato on off-target organisms, such as insects are lacking. Therefore, we studied the effects of *P. infestans* inoculation and introduction of *Rpi-blb1*, from the *Solanum bulbocastanum*, against *P. infestans* on behavioral responses of the generalist insect herbivore *Spodoptera littoralis*, which is invasive in several ecosystems (**Paper IV**).

Oviposition preference of adult *S. littoralis* for either *P. infestans*-inoculated or uninoculated (control) plants of cv. Desirée and *Rpi-blb1* containing Desirée (A01-22) was tested in net cages. Female oviposition preference was tested in the following four two-choice bioassays: 1) inoculated vs uninoculated Desirée, 2) inoculated vs uninoculated clone A01-22, 3) cv. Desirée vs clone A01-22, both uninoculated, and 4) cv. Desirée vs clone A01-22, both inoculated plants of cv. Desirée were used to feed first instar larvae. Egg and larvae weight data was collected to make host-preference and larva performance comparisons (**Paper IV**).

We confirmed that the *Rpi-blb1* gene confers resistance against the *P. infestans* strain SE-03058 (Paper IV). In the two-choice test between inoculated and uninoculated cv. Desirée, as well as inoculated and uninoculated A01-22, a significantly higher proportion of S. littoralis eggs were laid on the P. infestans inoculated plants (Paper IV, Figure 2). Previously it has been reported that in potato, P. infestans infection may lead to changes in the volatile and nonvolatile profiles of potato (Laothawornkitkul et al., 2010; Andreu et al., 2001). Therefore, these volatile differences between inoculated and non-inoculated plants may explain the preference of the S. littoralis females oviposit on inoculated plants. A two-choice test between uninoculated plants of Desirée and A01-22 did not show significant differences, indicating importance of the pathogen infection and/or plant response to the infection on host choice behavior of the S. littorlais. After P. infestans inoculation, a significantly higher percentage of eggs were found on the inoculated susceptible cv. Desirée than on the inoculated A01-22 (Paper IV, Figure 3). The cv. Desirée and A01-22 are genetically identical except for the introduced Rpi-blb1 gene into A01-22. Major *Rpi*-gene-based resistance leads to effector-triggered immunity (ETI), and *Rpi-blb1* gene expression increases after *P. infestans* inoculation, this specific defence response is lacking in the susceptible cv. Desirée (Jones & Dangl, 2006). So that, we can conclude that introduction of the Rpi-gene into potato affects the host preference of S. littoralis only after inoculation of the plant with *P. infestans*.

In spite of the host preference difference to *P. infestans* inoculated and noninoculated cv. Desirée, there was no larval weight differences between these hosts, which may indicate that the oviposition site decision of *S. littoralis* may not be directly associated with performance (**Paper IV**, Figure 4). As shown in a meta-analysis (Gripenberg *et al.*, 2010), host preference may not be associated with performance especially in generalist insect species. Our study showed that use of *Rpi*-genes to control late blight disease in potato production might also reduce the generalist insect herbivores infestation.

4.4 Activation of *Solanum* defence response in greenhouse and field conditions (Paper V, VI)

In nature and in agricultural fields, plants are continuously interacting with a multitude of above- and below-ground microbial populations and are at the same time challenged by abiotic stresses. However, most of the studies aimed at understanding the plant-microbe interactions are conducted in laboratory conditions. The predictability of laboratory based studies for field performance remains questionable. Moreover, understanding the activation of plant innate immunity in agricultural fields is crucial to allow informed decisions, for example, to maximise the efficiency of control methods. Therefore, we studied the activation of innate immunity in *Solanum* species growing in agricultural fields and natural populations (**Paper V**). To increase the predictability of studies conducted under controlled conditions we compared the apoplastic proteome of potato plants grown in greenhouse and field conditions (**Paper VI**).

To investigate the status of plant innate immunity activation, we isolated over 500 apoplastic samples of non-diseased potato (from agricultural fields) as well as wild *S. dulcamara* and *S. nigrum*, using the protocol described previously (Andreasson *et al.*, 2017; Alexandersson *et al.*, 2013). The samples were collected from three consecutive years, June-August, in Sweden. Apoplastic fluid was cleaned and proteins separated by SDS-PAGE (**Paper V**). The presence of pathogenesis-related PR proteins (PR1, a marker for salicylic acid (SA) induction; and PR2+3, as markers for Jasmonic acid (JA) related pathways), were used to indicate plant immunity activation in the gel analysis.

Generally, our results showed immunity-activation in only 36.4% of all the field samples (**Paper V**, Figure 1A). PR1 was present in 16.5% and PR2+3 in 32.7% of the samples. This low PR presence frequency directly contrasts with predictions from the zig-zag model based on laboratory data. Such predictions suggest that PTI should be frequently expressed in the presence of PAMPs, and that since plants are continuously exposed to microbes, they would be continually exposed to PAMPs in the field (**Paper V**). We found an increased presence of PR1 later in the growing season (**Paper V**, Figure 1C). This could reflect an increasing density of microbes and thus increased presence of the PAMPs that trigger PTI as previously hypothesised in (Copeland *et al.*, 2015).

Comparisons among the species showed that there was higher presence of PR2-3 in *S. dulcamara* than in *S. tuberosum* or *S. nigrum* (**Paper V**, Figure 1B). *S. dulcamara* can be attacked by herbivores and the higher presence of these PR proteins may reflect induction of JA by such attacks (Kazan & Lyons, 2014), even if we did not detect visible symptoms on any of the leaf material collected. The presence of PR1 was more common in the *S. tuberosum* plants grown in agricultural fields than the wild *Solanum* species collected from natural populations (**Paper V**, Figure 1A). This might suggest that induction of JA due to insect biting in wild populations has reduced the SA based defense response. Antagonistic interaction between JA and SA mediated defence signaling pathways was previously reported in the resistance of Arabidopsis to Cucumber Mosaic Virus (Takahashi *et al.*, 2004). Thus, such antagonism is likely to exist in other plant species such as members of the *Solanum* Genus.

In this study (**Paper V**), we used five potato clones that differ in resistance to *P. infestans*: Bintje = PTI; Desirée = PTI; Ovatio = PTI; Sarpo Mira = PTI + ETI; SW93-1015 = ETI + PTI. This sampling allowed us to investigate activation of different layers of innate immunity in asymptomatic potato growing in agricultural fields. The susceptible hosts are assumed to only be able to activate basal defence responses (PTI) since they either do not contain functional R gene alleles or contain alleles known to be overcome by all races of the pathogen. In contrast, the resistant hosts are presumed to be able to activate both PTI and ETI. Although we suggested that activation of ETI will be increased due to the presence of P. infestans in surrounding fields, the presence of PR proteins, in our gel analysis was similar between the susceptible and resistant groups. Based on the above results, we propose an extension of a zig-zag model depicting innate immunity activation in plants growing in natural conditions. The model denoted 'Pyramide' suggests that activation of innate immunity (PTI/ETI), in plants growing in field conditions, can be suppressed by effectors from the infecting pathogen (ETS). It can also be actively or passively down-regulated in the absence of disease (Paper V, Figure 2).

Most molecular studies aimed to understand plant resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses are conducted in controlled conditions. But, how well can these controlled experiments predict plant performance in (agricultural) field conditions? Therefore, we compared the apoplastic proteomes of potato plants grown in both greenhouse and field conditions using quantitative proteomics and activity based protein profiling (ABPP) (Figure 5). Apoplastic fluid was isolated by vacuum infiltration-centrifugation (Andreasson *et al.*, 2017; Alexandersson *et al.*, 2013) and used for quantitative analysis or activity based protein profiling (ABPP). To generate quantitative proteomics data, apoplastic proteins were in-solution digested with trypsin and subjected to mass spectrometry. The generated data was used for peptide identification and quantitative analysis to determine peptide abundance (Ali *et al.*, 2014; Burra *et*

al., 2014). Part of the apoplastic fluid was used to label the active proteome in an ABPP assay. This technique uses fluorescence probes to irreversibly bind to the active residue of distinct protein classes, and proteins can be detected using SDS-PAGE and in-gel fluorophore scanning (van der Hoorn *et al.*, 2011). To identify the active proteins detected in ABPP, proteins were co-immunoprecipitated with Streptavidin beads, displayed by SDS-PAGE, subjected to in-gel tryptic digestion and then analyzed by mass spectrometry. A comparison between peptides identified in quantitative and ABPP-LC/MS/MS was also performed (Figure 5). In order to create a basis for identification of robust peptide biomarkers, we investigated differences in the apoplastic proteome of potato growing in two experimental sites (Mosslunda and Borgeby) in Southern Sweden. We also investigated the effects of fungicide treatment over two years at the Mosslunda site, and since we collected samples across the growing season (June-July-August), we were able to compare seasonal changes within and between locations. (**Paper VI**).



Figure 5. Workflow of quantitative proteomics analysis coupled with Activity Based Protein Profiling (ABPP). (A) apoplastic fluid was isolated by vacuum infiltration-centrifugation and aliquoted until used for quantitative analysis or ABPP. (B) Apoplastic proteins were in-solution digested with trypsin and subjected to mass spectrometry. (C1) Part of the apoplastic fluid was used to label the active proteome in an ABPP assay using fluorescence probes followed by detection of the proteins through SDS-PAGE. (C2) Characterization of the active proteins detected in-C1 was performed using biotinylated probes. (Paper VI). Illustration by Kibrom B. Abreha.

Field-grown and greenhouse-grown samples grouped separately in a principal component analysis (PCA), and a large number of peptide/proteins showed

different abundance in both conditions (**Paper VI**, Figure 2). MapMan pathways analysis (Thimm *et al.*, 2004), showed that a large number of the proteins associated with plant responses to biotic and abiotic stresses were in higher abundance in field than greenhouse conditions (**Paper VI**, Figure 3). A similar result was reported in a recent comparative proteomics analysis of Arabidopsis plants grown in field and controlled conditions (Ruhe *et al.*, 2016). Among the proteins found with higher abundance in field condition were 63 proteins associated with proteolysis, 40 proteins involved in cell wall synthesis or degradation, 19 proteins classified as pathogenesis related proteins (PR-proteins), 15 peroxidases and 25 proteins involved in defence signalling.

Fungicide application is the most common strategy to reduce yield losses due to pathogens. Foliar application may, affect the apoplastic proteome of the plants. These effects may be direct or indirect, (e.g.by changing the microbial population in the phyllosphere). To understand the fungicide effect, a two-way comparison was performed but no differentially abundant proteins was detected between fungicide treated and untreated plants (**Paper VI**, Data not shown).

Samples from two growing sites, Mosslunda and Borgeby, were grouped together in the PCA (**Paper VI**, Figure 5A). In agreement with this, in a PCA analysis an overlap of apoplastic proteome samples from plants growing in two different sites was reported (Ruhe *et al.*, 2016). Despite the PCA showing similarity between the samples, we were still able to identify 314 peptides from 234 proteins that were differentially abundant in the growing sites (**Paper VI**, Supplementary Figure S3). In evaluating the year effect, in spite of an overlap, samples from the same year grouped together (**Paper VI**, Figure 5B). 205 peptides corresponding to 156 proteins showed differential abundance between 2011 and 2012 in Mosslunda (**Paper VI**, Supplementary Figure S3).

A multi group comparison was also performed and this revealed that 320 peptides from 240 proteins were differentially regulated in at least one month of the June-July-August in a growing season. This allowed us to identify peptides and/or proteins co-regulated across the growing season. Furthermore, expression profile clustering analysis identified co-regulated proteins across the season and showed that 108 peptides increased in abundance in July and August compared to the early season sample in June (**Paper VI**, Figure 6C).

The above quantitative analysis gives information about the relative abundance of a given peptide or protein in a proteome sample. In order to find out if some of these proteins were functionally active, we used activity based protein profiling. Serine and glycosyl hydrolase protein families are commonly found in the apoplast (Alexandersson *et al.*, 2013) and both families were among the most abundant in our samples (**Paper VI**, Figure 1). Therefore, using ABPP we studied the activity profile of serine hydrolase and β -glucosidase proteins in

the apoplast. Our analysis showed a differential activity state of these protein families in field and greenhouse samples (e.g. the presence or absence of some proteins; or changes in the intensity of the protein signals) between field and greenhouse samples (Paper VI, Figure 7). To further characterize these proteins, protein bands were excised from SDS-PAGE and subjected to mass spectrometry analysis (Paper VI, Figure 8). This analysis detected a group of (PGSC0003DMP400056894). hvdrolases: P69E serine P69E (PGSC0003DMP400007008), P69F (PGSC0003DMP400006964), peroxidase (M1AY17), Subtilase (PGSC0003DMP400011990) and Carboxypeptidase (PGSC0003DMP400054112) were among the active proteins in the samples (Paper VI, Figure 8). Moreover, member of the β -glucosidase family such as (PGSC0003DMP400004621), Beta-galactosidase Beta-glucosidase (PGSC0003DMP400015895), Beta-mannosidase (PGSC0003DMP400009956) and Alpha galactosidase (PGSC0003DMP400018078) were also detected as active proteins (Paper VI, Figure 8).

To identify potential peptide biomarkers we used three different approaches. Firstly we combined the results from our quantitative proteomics and ABPP-LC/MS-MS assays. Using this approach, we were able identify peptides that were both differentially regulated between field and greenhouse and that were were functionally active (**Paper VI**, Table 4). Secondly, we wanted to identify biomarkers that show stability across different conditions, to be able to more accurately predict plant performance in both growing conditions. Thus, we mined our data for peptide biomarkers that are were not differentially abundant in greenhouse or field conditions, and that showed stability across different conditions. Quantitative comparisons were made between field and greenhouse conditions, two growing sites, and between years and months within a growing season in the same experimental site. The analysis identified 750 stable peptides (Paper VI, Supplementary Table S3). We defined field physiology markers as peptides that were higher in abundance in the field than in the greenhouse, and the abundance of which, was not dependent on year or growing site.

5 Conclusions and future perspectives

In this thesis, *Solanum* species growing in Sweden were evaluated for resistance against *P. infestans* and BABA-induced resistance was studied in one of these wild species. Transcriptome analysis was performed to enhance our understanding of the interactions between *Solanum* species and the pathogen. We studied the effects of potato inoculation with *P. infestans* on the host choice behaviour and performance of *S. littoralis*. Moreover, the stress response of the *Solanum* plants growing in both natural and field conditions was investigated by predicting the activation of innate immunity and identifying active apoplastic proteins as biomarkers of these responses. The main conclusions and future perspectives are:

- The wild Solanum species growing in Sweden vary widely in resistance against P. infestans. S. physalifolium is susceptible and S. nigrum is resistant against the pathogen whereas there is a wide resistance-variation among S. dulcamara accessions.
- The diverse resistance phenotypes identified in S. dulcamara suggest variable resistance reactions against P. infestans. Further characterization of the resistance phenotypes using cytological methods would provide invaluable insights into the specific mechanisms of pathogen infection and host defence.
- BABA can induce resistance against *P. infestans* in *S. physalifolium* (a naturally susceptible host). This induced resistance can be transferred into the next generation. However, direct and transgenerational BABA-induced resistance is dependent on host genotype. Molecular studies of the mechanisms of action of BABA and identification of factors that determine the differences in BABA-inducibility among the

genotypes are needed in order to consider application of BABAinduced resistance to enhance plant defence responses.

- Unravelling how the BABA-induced resistance is carried into the next generation, i.e. understanding the mechanism of epigenetic inheritance, would help facilitate potential use of plant materials with induced resistance in agricultural production. In the future, this strategy may be applied together with host resistance or with reduced fungicide applications.
- Transcriptome analysis of *P. infestans* inoculated leaves of three wild Solanum species and potato clones (Desirée, SW93-1015, and Sarpo Mira) with varying resistance levels towards the pathogen revealed transcript families expanded or depleted depending on whether the interaction was resistant or susceptible. Furthermore, different numbers of *R*-gene like sequences and *P. infestans* transcripts were identified reflecting the variability of interactions between the pathogen and different hosts. Characterization of potential genes related to plant resistance and specific effectors from pathogen can be useful to identify molecular targets of the pathogen used to promote host invasion.
- Potato-P. infestans interactions can alter the host choice behaviour of a generalist moth Spodoptera littoralis. Introduction of Rpi-genes from wild Solanum species into potato can reduce the load of P. infestans as well as S. littoralis. Studies on the effects of Solanum-P. infestans interactions and introduction of cloned Rpi-genes on other herbivores and microbes are advised in order to increase applicability of the host resistance to broad range of natural enemies. Furthermore, identification of the volatile cues involved in the tri-trophic interaction can be an important input for example in pulling away the herbivore from potato fields.
- In contrast to the perception that plants can constantly activate defence response in natural conditions, only one-third of the *Solanum* plants growing either in agricultural fields or in natural populations showed activation of innate immunity. Generally, the rate of innate immunity activation is higher towards the end of the season which may be linked with increased PAMPs pressure later in the growing season. Surveying the above and below-ground (micro)biota may further elucidate the

nature of this innate immunity activation in agricultural fields and nature.

- Associating the differential innate immunity activation in field conditions across the growing season would be crucial to further connect it with efficiency of disease control measures, for example application of defence inducers or fungicides.
- > A large number of proteins related to plant response to biotic and abiotic stresses increased in abundance in field conditions compared to greenhouse conditions. Serine hydrolases and β -glucosidases, showed differential activity profiles in greenhouse and field conditions as well as across the growing season within the same field. Functional analysis of the proteins with differential abundance in different growth conditions may shed light into the possible biological role of the identified proteins in plant response to these conditions.
- Peptide biomarkers with potential roles in predicting plant performance in field and greenhouse conditions have been identified. Confirming the applicability of these peptides in predicting plant performance would provide valuable insights into the concept of application of peptide biomarkers. To do this, further studies screening a larger number of genotypes are needed to make accurate predictions of plant performance in field and controlled conditions.

References

- Ah-Fong, A.M., Kim, K.S. & Judelson, H.S. (2017). RNA-seq of life stages of the oomycete Phytophthora infestans reveals dynamic changes in metabolic, signal transduction, and pathogenesis genes and a major role for calcium signaling in development. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), p. 198.
- Alexandersson, E., Ali, A., Resjo, S. & Andreasson, E. (2013). Plant secretome proteomics. *Front Plant Sci*, 4.
- Alexandersson, E., Mulugeta, T., Lankinen, A., Liljeroth, E. & Andreasson, E. (2016). Plant Resistance Inducers against Pathogens in Solanaceae Species-From Molecular Mechanisms to Field Application. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(10).
- Ali, A., Alexandersson, E., Sandin, M., Resjo, S., Lenman, M., Hedley, P., Levander, F. & Andreasson, E. (2014). Quantitative proteomics and transcriptomics of potato in response to Phytophthora infestans in compatible and incompatible interactions. *BMC Genomics*, 15, p. 497.
- Altamiranda, E.A.G., Andreu, A.B., Daleo, G.R. & Olivieri, F.P. (2008). Effect of b-aminobutyric acid (BABA) on protection against Phytophthora infestans throughout the potato crop cycle. *Australasian Plant Pathology*, 37, pp. 421--427.
- Ames, M. & Spooner, D.M. (2008). DNA from herbarium specimens settles a controversy about origins of the European potato. *Am J Bot*, 95(2), pp. 252-7.
- Anderson, P. & Alborn, H. (1999). Effects on oviposition behaviour and larval development of Spodoptera littoralis by herbivore-induced changes in cotton plants. *Entomologia Experimentalis Et Applicata*, 92(1), pp. 45-51.
- Andersson, B., Johansson, M. & Jonsson, B. (2003). First report of Solanum physalifolium as a host plant for Phytophthora infestans in Sweden. *Plant Disease*, 87(12), pp. 1538-1538.
- Andolfo, G., Jupe, F., Witek, K., Etherington, G.J., Ercolano, M.R. & Jones, J.D. (2014). Defining the full tomato NB-LRR resistance gene repertoire using genomic and cDNA RenSeq. *BMC Plant Biol*, 14, p. 120.
- Andreasson, E., Abreha, K.B. & Resjö, S. (2017). Isolation of Apoplast. In: Taylor, N.L. & Millar, A.H. (eds) *Isolation of Plant Organelles and Structures: Methods and Protocols*. New York, NY: Springer New York, pp. 233-240. Available from: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6533-5_18</u>.

- Andreu, A., Oliva, C., Distel, S. & Daleo, G. (2001). Production of phytoalexins, glycoalkaloids and phenolics in leaves and tubers of potato cultivars with different degrees of field resistance after infection with Phytophthora infestans. *Potato Research*, 44(1), pp. 1-9.
- Andreu, A., Tonón, C., Van Damme, M., Huarte, M. & Daleo, G. (1998). Effect of glucans from different races of Phytophthora infestans on defense reactions in potato tuber. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 104(8), pp. 777-783.
- Armstrong, M.R., Whisson, S.C., Pritchard, L., Bos, J.I., Venter, E., Avrova, A.O., Rehmany, A.P., Bohme, U., Brooks, K., Cherevach, I., Hamlin, N., White, B., Fraser, A., Lord, A., Quail, M.A., Churcher, C., Hall, N., Berriman, M., Huang, S., Kamoun, S., Beynon, J.L. & Birch, P.R. (2005). An ancestral oomycete locus contains late blight avirulence gene Avr3a, encoding a protein that is recognized in the host cytoplasm. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(21), pp. 7766-71.
- Balmer, A., Pastor, V., Gamir, J., Flors, V. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2015). The 'primeome': towards a holistic approach to priming. *Trends Plant Sci*, 20(7), pp. 443-452.
- Beketova, M.P., Sokolova, E.A., Malyuchenko, O.P., Alekseev, Y.I., Kuznetsova, M.A., Kozlovsky, B.E., Rogozina, E.V. & Khavkin, E.E. (2015). On molecular identification of Phytophthora infestans genotypes. *Russian Agricultural Sciences*, 40(6), pp. 435-438.
- Bengtsson, T., Holefors, A., Witzell, J., Andreasson, E. & Liljeroth, E. (2014a). Activation of defence responses to Phytophthora infestans in potato by BABA. *Plant Pathology*, 63(1), pp. 193-202.
- Bengtsson, T., Weighill, D., Proux-Wera, E., Levander, F., Resjo, S., Burra, D.D., Moushib, L.I., Hedley, P.E., Liljeroth, E., Jacobson, D., Alexandersson, E. & Andreasson, E. (2014b). Proteomics and transcriptomics of the BABA-induced resistance response in potato using a novel functional annotation approach. *BMC Genomics*, 15, p. 315.
- Birch, P., Avrova, A., Armstrong, M., Venter, E., Taleb, N., Gilroy, E., Phillips, M. & Whisson, S. (2003). The potato – Phytophthora infestans interaction transcriptome. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.*, 25, pp. 226-231.
- Blanco, F.A. & Judelson, H.S. (2005). A bZIP transcription factor from Phytophthora interacts with a protein kinase and is required for zoospore motility and plant infection. *Mol Microbiol*, 56(3), pp. 638-48.
- Boevink, P.C., McLellan, H., Gilroy, E.M., Naqvi, S., He, Q., Yang, L.N., Wang, X.D., Turnbull, D., Armstrong, M.R., Tian, Z.D. & Birch, P.R.J. (2016).
 Oomycetes Seek Help from the Plant: Phytophthora infestans Effectors Target Host Susceptibility Factors. *Molecular Plant*, 9(5), pp. 636-638.
- Bos, J.I.B., Armstrong, M.R., Gilroy, E.M., Boevink, P.C., Hein, I., Taylor, R.M., Tian, Z.D., Engelhardt, S., Vetukuri, R.R., Harrower, B., Dixelius, C., Bryan, G., Sadanandom, A., Whisson, S.C., Kamoun, S. & Birch, P.R.J. (2010). Phytophthora infestans effector AVR3a is essential for virulence and manipulates plant immunity by stabilizing host E3 ligase CMPG1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(21), pp. 9909-9914.

- Bradshaw, J., Bryan, G. & Ramsay, G. (2006). Genetic resources (including wild and cultivated Solanum species) and progress in their utilisation in potato breeding. *Potato Research*, 49(1), pp. 49-65.
- Bradshaw, J.E. & Ramsay, G. (2005). Utilisation of the commonwealth potato collection in potato breeding. *Euphytica*, 146(1-2), pp. 9-19.
- Brooker, R.W. (2006). Plant-plant interactions and environmental change. *New Phytologist*, 171(2), pp. 271-284.
- Brown, C.R. (2005). Antioxidants in potato. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 82(2), pp. 163-172.
- Brunner, F., Rosahl, S., Lee, J., Rudd, J.J., Geiler, C., Kauppinen, S., Rasmussen, G., Scheel, D. & Nurnberger, T. (2002). Pep-13, a plant defense-inducing pathogen-associated pattern from Phytophthora transglutaminases. *Embo Journal*, 21(24), pp. 6681-6688.
- Burra, D.D., Berkowitz, O., Hedley, P.E., Morris, J., Resjo, S., Levander, F., Liljeroth, E., Andreasson, E. & Alexandersson, E. (2014). Phosphiteinduced changes of the transcriptome and secretome in Solanum tuberosum leading to resistance against Phytophthora infestans. *BMC Plant Biol*, 14.
- Burra, D.D., Muhlenbock, P. & Andreasson, E. (2015). Salicylic and jasmonic acid pathways are necessary for defence against Dickeya solani as revealed by a novel method for Blackleg disease screening of invitro grown potato. *Plant Biology*, 17(5), pp. 1030-1038.
- Burra, D.D., Vetukuri, R.R., Resjo, S., Grenville-Briggs, L.J. & Andreasson, E. (2016). RNAseq and Proteomics for Analysing Complex Oomycete Plant Interactions. *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*, 19, pp. 73-87.
- Camire, M.E., Kubow, S. & Donnelly, D.J. (2009). Potatoes and human health. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 49(10), pp. 823-40.
- Chowdappaa, P., Kumara, B.J.N., Madhuraa, S., Kumara, S.P.M., L., M.K., E., F.W. & L., C.D.E. (2014). Severe outbreaks of late blight on potato and tomato in South India caused by recent changes in the Phytophthora infestans population. *Plant Pathology*.
- Conrath, U., Pieterse, C.M. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2002). Priming in plant-pathogen interactions. *Trends Plant Sci*, 7(5), pp. 210-6.
- Cooke, L.R., Carlisle, D.J., Wilson, D.G. & Deahl, K.L. (2002). Natural occurrence of Phytophthora infestans on woody nightshade (Solanum dulcamara) in Ireland. *Plant Pathology*, 51(3), pp. 392-392.
- Copeland, J.K., Yuan, L.J., Layeghifard, M., Wang, P.W. & Guttman, D.S. (2015). Seasonal Community Succession of the Phyllosphere Microbiome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 28(3), pp. 274-285.
- Cramer, G.R., Urano, K., Delrot, S., Pezzotti, M. & Shinozaki, K. (2011). Effects of abiotic stress on plants: a systems biology perspective. *BMC Plant Biol*, 11.
- Deahl, K.L., Jones, R., Wanner, L.A. & Plant, A. (2005). Late blight caused by Phytophthora infestans on Solanum sarrachoides in northeastern Maine. *Plant Disease*, 89(4), pp. 435-435.
- Defelice, M.S. (2003). The black nightshades, Solanum nigrum L. et al. Poison, poultice, and pie. *Weed Technology*, 17(2), pp. 421-427.

- Delaunois, B., Jeandet, P., Clement, C., Baillieul, F., Dorey, S. & Cordelier, S. (2014). Uncovering plant-pathogen crosstalk through apoplastic proteomic studies. *Front Plant Sci*, 5, p. 249.
- Dong, S.M., Raffaele, S. & Kamoun, S. (2015). The two-speed genomes of filamentous pathogens: waltz with plants. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development*, 35, pp. 57-65.
- Du, J. (2014). Elicitin-triggered apoplastic immunity against late blight in potato. PhD thesis Wageningen University, Wageningen, NL (2014)(ISBN 978-94-6257-009-2).
- Du, Y., Berg, J., Govers, F. & Bouwmeester, K. (2015). Immune activation mediated by the late blight resistance protein R1 requires nuclear localization of R1 and the effector AVR1. *New Phytologist*, 207(3), pp. 735-747.
- Ebstrup, T., Saalbach, G. & Egsgaard, H. (2005). A proteomics study of in vitro cyst germination and appressoria formation in Phytophthora infestans. *Proteomics*, 5(11), pp. 2839-2848.
- Edmonds, J.M. & Chweya, J.A. (1997). Black nightshades Solanum nigrum L. and related species.
- Eriksson, D., Carlson-Nilsson, U., Ortíz, R. & Andreasson, E. (2016). Overview and Breeding Strategies of Table Potato Production in Sweden and the Fennoscandian Region. *Potato Research*, pp. 1-16.
- Eves-van den Akker, S., Laetsch, D.R., Thorpe, P., Lilley, C.J., Danchin, E.G.J., Da Rocha, M., Rancurel, C., Holroyd, N.E., Cotton, J.A., Szitenberg, A., Grenier, E., Montarry, J., Mimee, B., Duceppe, M.O., Boyes, I., Marvin, J.M.C., Jones, L.M., Yusup, H.B., Lafond-Lapalme, J., Esquibet, M., Sabeh, M., Rott, M., Overmars, H., Finkers-Tomczak, A., Smant, G., Koutsovoulos, G., Blok, V., Mantelin, S., Cock, P.J.A., Phillips, W., Henrissat, B., Urwin, P.E., Blaxter, M. & Jones, J.T. (2016). The genome of the yellow potato cyst nematode, Globodera rostochiensis, reveals insights into the basis of parasitism and virulence. *Genome Biology*, 17.
- Faltert, C., Ellinger, D., von Hulsen, B., Heim, R. & Voigt, C.A. (2015). Simple preparation of plant epidermal tissue for laser microdissection and downstream quantitative proteome and carbohydrate analysis. *Front Plant Sci*, 6.
- Fay, J.C. & Fry, W.E. (1997). Effects of hot and cold temperatures on the survival of oospores produced by United States strains of Phytophthora infestans. *American Potato Journal*, 74(5), pp. 315-323.
- Flier, W.G., van den Bosch, G.B.M. & Turkensteen, L.J. (2003). Epidemiological importance of Solanum sisymbriifolium, S-nigrum and S-dulcamara as alternative hosts for Phytophthora infestans. *Plant Pathology*, 52(5), pp. 595-603.
- Floryszak-Wieczorek, J., Arasimowicz-Jelonek, M. & Abramowski, D. (2015). BABA-primed defense responses to Phytophthora infestans in the next vegetative progeny of potato. *Front Plant Sci*, 6, p. 844.
- Friedman, M. (1996). Nutritional value of proteins from different food sources. A review. *J Agric Food Chem*, 44(1), pp. 6-29.

- Friedman, M. (2006). Potato glycoalkaloids and metabolites: roles in the plant and in the diet. *J Agric Food Chem*, 54(23), pp. 8655-81.
- Fry, W. (2008). Phytophthora infestans: the plant (and R gene) destroyer. *Mol Plant Pathol*, 9(3), pp. 385-402.
- Fry, W.E. (1991). Population Genetic Structure of Phytophthora infestansin the Netherlands. *Phytopathology*, 81(10), p. 1330.
- Fry, W.E., Goodwin, S.B., Dyer, A.T., Matuszak, J.M., Drenth, A., Tooley, P.W., Sujkowski, L.S., Koh, Y.J., Cohen, B.A., Spielman, L.J., Deahl, K.L., Inglis, D.A. & Sandlan, K.P. (1993). Historical and Recent Migrations of Phytophthora-Infestans - Chronology, Pathways, and Implications. *Plant Disease*, 77(7), pp. 653-661.
- Furuichi, N. (2014). PiPE, a Phytophthora-associated PAMPS from P. infestans, Binds to a Ca2+-Dependent Protein Kinase (CDPK) in Potato for the Induction of Hypersensitive Reaction. *Journal of Clinical & Experimental Pathology*, 04(01).
- Gamboa-Melendez, H., Huerta, A.I. & Judelson, H.S. (2013). bZIP Transcription Factors in the Oomycete Phytophthora infestans with Novel DNA-Binding Domains Are Involved in Defense against Oxidative Stress. *Eukaryotic Cell*, 12(10), pp. 1403-1412.
- Gao, L.L., Tu, Z.J., Millett, B.P. & Bradeen, J.M. (2013). Insights into organspecific pathogen defense responses in plants: RNA-seq analysis of potato tuber-Phytophthora infestans interactions. *BMC Genomics*, 14.
- Gastelo, M., Kleinwechter, U. & Bonierbale, M. (2014). Global Potato Research for a Changing World. *International Potato Center (CIP)*.
- Gisi, U. & Cohen, Y. (1996). Resistance to phenylamide fungicides: A case study with Phytophthora infestans involving mating type and race structure. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, 34, pp. 549-572.
- Golas, T.M., Feron, R.M.C., van den Berg, R.G., van der Weerden, G.M., Mariani, C. & Allefs, J.J.H.M. (2010a). Genetic structure of European accessions of Solanum dulcamara L. (Solanaceae). *Plant Systematics and Evolution*, 285(1-2), pp. 103-110.
- Golas, T.M., Sikkema, A., Gros, J., Feron, R.M.C., van den Berg, R.G., van der Weerden, G.M., Mariani, C. & Allefs, J.J.H.M. (2010b). Identification of a resistance gene Rpi-dlc1 to Phytophthora infestans in European accessions of Solanum dulcamara. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 120(4), pp. 797-808.
- Golas, T.M., van de Geest, H., Gros, J., Sikkema, A., D'Agostino, N., Nap, J.P., Mariani, C., Allefs, J.J. & Rieu, I. (2013). Comparative next-generation mapping of the Phytophthora infestans resistance gene Rpi-dlc2 in a European accession of Solanum dulcamara. *Theor Appl Genet*, 126(1), pp. 59-68.
- Golas, T.M., van der Weerden, G.M., van den Berg, R.G., Mariani, C. & Allefs, J.J.H.M. (2010c). Role of Solanum dulcamara L. in Potato Late Blight Epidemiology. *Potato Research*, 53(1), pp. 69-81.
- Gomez-Alpizar, L., Carbone, I. & Ristaino, J.B. (2007). An Andean origin of Phytophthora infestans inferred from mitochondrial and nuclear gene

genealogies. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(9), pp. 3306-3311.

- Goodwin, S.B., Cohen, B.A. & Fry, W.E. (1994). Panglobal Distribution of a Single Clonal Lineage of the Irish Potato Famine Fungus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 91(24), pp. 11591-11595.
- Goss, E.M., Tabima, J.F., Cooke, D.E.L., Restrepo, S., Fry, W.E., Forbes, G.A., Fieland, V.J., Cardenas, M. & Grunwald, N.J. (2014). The Irish potato famine pathogen Phytophthora infestans originated in central Mexico rather than the Andes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(24), pp. 8791-8796.
- Grabherr, M.G., Haas, B.J., Yassour, M., Levin, J.Z., Thompson, D.A., Amit, I., Adiconis, X., Fan, L., Raychowdhury, R., Zeng, Q.D., Chen, Z.H., Mauceli, E., Hacohen, N., Gnirke, A., Rhind, N., di Palma, F., Birren, B.W., Nusbaum, C., Lindblad-Toh, K., Friedman, N. & Regev, A. (2011). Full-length transcriptome assembly from RNA-Seq data without a reference genome. *Nature Biotechnology*, 29(7), pp. 644-U130.
- Gray, S., De Boer, S., Lorenzen, J., Karasev, A., Whitworth, J., Nolte, P., Singh, R., Boucher, A. & Xu, H. (2010). Potato virus Y: An Evolving Concern for Potato Crops in the United States and Canada. *Plant Disease*, 94(12), pp. 1384-1397.
- Grenville-Briggs, L.J., Anderson, V.L., Fugelstad, J., Avrova, A.O., Bouzenzana, J., Williams, A., Wawra, S., Whisson, S.C., Birch, P.R., Bulone, V. & van West, P. (2008). Cellulose synthesis in Phytophthora infestans is required for normal appressorium formation and successful infection of potato. *Plant Cell*, 20(3), pp. 720-38.
- Grenville-Briggs, L.J., Avrova, A.O., Bruce, C.R., Williams, A., Whisson, S.C., Birch, P.R.J. & van West, P. (2005). Elevated amino acid biosynthesis in Phytophthora infestans during appressorium formation and potato infection. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 42(3), pp. 244-256.
- Grenville-Briggs, L.J., Avrova, A.O., Hay, R.J., Bruce, C.R., Whisson, S.C. & Van West, P. (2010). Identification of appressorial and mycelial cell wall proteins and a survey of the membrane proteome of Phytophthora infestans. *Fungal Biol*, 114(9), pp. 702-723.
- Gripenberg, S., Mayhew, P.J., Parnell, M. & Roslin, T. (2010). A meta-analysis of preference-performance relationships in phytophagous insects. *Ecol Lett*, 13(3), pp. 383-93.
- Gronberg, L., Andersson, B. & Yuen, J. (2012). Can Weed Hosts Increase Aggressiveness of Phytophthora infestans on Potato? *Phytopathology*, 102(4), pp. 429-433.
- Grunwald, N.J., Flier, W.G., Sturbaum, A.K., Garay-Serrano, E., van den Bosch, T.B.M., Smart, C.D., Matuszak, J.M., Lozoya-Saldana, H., Turkensteen, L.J. & Fry, W.E. (2001). Population structure of Phytophthora infestans in the Toluca valley region of central Mexico. *Phytopathology*, 91(9), pp. 882-890.
- Gyetvai, G.M. (2010). Structural and functional characterization of R1homologous genes. *PhD thesis, Universität Köln, Germany.*

- Haas, B.J., Kamoun, S., Zody, M.C., Jiang, R.H., Handsaker, R.E., Cano, L.M., Grabherr, M., Kodira, C.D., Raffaele, S., Torto-Alalibo, T., Bozkurt, T.O., Ah-Fong, A.M., Alvarado, L., Anderson, V.L., Armstrong, M.R., Avrova, A., Baxter, L., Beynon, J., Boevink, P.C., Bollmann, S.R., Bos, J.I., Bulone, V., Cai, G., Cakir, C., Carrington, J.C., Chawner, M., Conti, L., Costanzo, S., Ewan, R., Fahlgren, N., Fischbach, M.A., Fugelstad, J., Gilroy, E.M., Gnerre, S., Green, P.J., Grenville-Briggs, L.J., Griffith, J., Grunwald, N.J., Horn, K., Horner, N.R., Hu, C.H., Huitema, E., Jeong, D.H., Jones, A.M., Jones, J.D., Jones, R.W., Karlsson, E.K., Kunjeti, S.G., Lamour, K., Liu, Z., Ma, L., Maclean, D., Chibucos, M.C., McDonald, H., McWalters, J., Meijer, H.J., Morgan, W., Morris, P.F., Munro, C.A., O'Neill, K., Ospina-Giraldo, M., Pinzon, A., Pritchard, L., Ramsahoye, B., Ren, Q., Restrepo, S., Roy, S., Sadanandom, A., Savidor, A., Schornack, S., Schwartz, D.C., Schumann, U.D., Schwessinger, B., Seyer, L., Sharpe, T., Silvar, C., Song, J., Studholme, D.J., Sykes, S., Thines, M., van de Vondervoort, P.J., Phuntumart, V., Wawra, S., Weide, R., Win, J., Young, C., Zhou, S., Fry, W., Meyers, B.C., van West, P., Ristaino, J., Govers, F., Birch, P.R., Whisson, S.C., Judelson, H.S. & Nusbaum, C. (2009). Genome sequence and analysis of the Irish potato famine pathogen Phytophthora infestans. Nature, 461(7262), pp. 393-8.
- Halim, V.A., Altmann, S., Ellinger, D., Eschen-Lippold, L., Miersch, O., Scheel, D. & Rosahl, S. (2009). PAMP-induced defense responses in potato require both salicylic acid and jasmonic acid. *Plant J*, 57(2), pp. 230-42.
- Halim, V.A., Hunger, A., Macioszek, V., Landgraf, P., Nurnberger, T., Scheel, D. & Rosahl, S. (2004). The oligopeptide elicitor Pep-13 induces salicylic acid-dependent and -independent defense reactions in potato. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 64(6), pp. 311-318.
- Hamiduzzaman, M.M., Jakab, G., Barnavon, L., Neuhaus, J.-M. & Mauch-Mani,
 B. (2005). β-Aminobutyric Acid-Induced Resistance Against Downy
 Mildew in Grapevine Acts Through the Potentiation of Callose Formation and Jasmonic Acid Signaling. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 18(8), pp. 819-829.
- Harbaoui, K., Hamada, W., Li, Y., Vleeshouwers, V.G.A.A. & van der Lee, T. (2014). Increased Difficulties to Control Late Blight in Tunisia Are Caused by a Genetically DiversePhytophthora infestansPopulation Next to the Clonal Lineage NA-01. *Plant Disease*, 98(7), pp. 898-908.
- Harper, J.T., Waanders, E. & Keeling, P.J. (2005). On the monophyly of chromalveolates using a six-protein phylogeny of eukaryotes. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 55, pp. 487-496.
- Haverkort, A.J., Struik, P.C., Visser, R.G.F. & Jacobsen, E. (2009). Applied Biotechnology to Combat Late Blight in Potato Caused by Phytophthora Infestans. *Potato Research*, 52(3), pp. 249-264.
- Heese, A., Hann, D.R., Gimenez-Ibanez, S., Jones, A.M.E., He, K., Li, J., Schroeder, J.I., Peck, S.C. & Rathjen, J.P. (2007). The receptor-like kinase SERK3/BAK1 is a central regulator of innate immunity in plants.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104(29), pp. 12217-12222.

- Heo, K.S. & Lim, K.T. (2005). Glycoprotein isolated from Solanum nigrum L. modulates the apoptotic-related signals in 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol 13acetate-stimulated MCF-7 cells. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 8(1), pp. 69-77.
- Hohl, H.R. & Iselin, K. (1984). Strains of Phytophthora infestans from Switzerland with A2 mating type behavior. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 83, pp. 529-530.
- Huang, S., Vleeshouwers, V.G.A.A., Visser, R.G.F. & Jacobsen, E. (2005). An accurate in vitro assay for high-throughput disease testing of Phytophthora infestans in potato. *Plant Disease*, 89(12), pp. 1263-1267.
- Jakab, G., Cottier, V., Toquin, V., Rigoli, G., Zimmerli, L., Metraux, J.P. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2001). beta-Aminobutyric acid-induced resistance in plants. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 107(1), pp. 29-37.
- Jallow, M.F.A., Dugassa-Gobena, D. & Vidal, S. (2008). Influence of an endophytic fungus on host plant selection by a polyphagous moth via volatile spectrum changes. *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 2(1), pp. 53-62.
- Jeong, J.B., De Lumen, B.O. & Jeong, H.J. (2010). Lunasin peptide purified from Solanum nigrum L. protects DNA from oxidative damage by suppressing the generation of hydroxyl radical via blocking fenton reaction. *Cancer Letters*, 293(1), pp. 58-64.
- Jones, J.D. & Dangl, J.L. (2006). The plant immune system. *Nature*, 444(7117), pp. 323-9.
- Judelson, H.S., Ah-Fong, A.M.V., Aux, G., Avrova, A.O., Bruce, C., Calkir, C., da Cunha, L., Grenville-Briggs, L., Latijnhouwers, M., Ligterink, W., Meijer, H.J.G., Roberts, S., Thurber, C.S., Whisson, S.C., Birch, P.R.J., Govers, F., Kamoun, S., van West, P. & Windass, J. (2008). Gene expression profiling during asexual development of the late blight pathogen Phytophthora infestans reveals a highly dynamic transcriptome. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 21(4), pp. 433-447.
- Jupe, F., Pritchard, L., Etherington, G.J., Mackenzie, K., Cock, P.J., Wright, F., Sharma, S.K., Bolser, D., Bryan, G.J., Jones, J.D. & Hein, I. (2012). Identification and localisation of the NB-LRR gene family within the potato genome. *BMC Genomics*, 13, p. 75.
- Jupe, F., Witek, K., Verweij, W., Sliwka, J., Pritchard, L., Etherington, G.J., Maclean, D., Cock, P.J., Leggett, R.M., Bryan, G.J., Cardle, L., Hein, I. & Jones, J.D. (2013). Resistance gene enrichment sequencing (RenSeq) enables reannotation of the NB-LRR gene family from sequenced plant genomes and rapid mapping of resistance loci in segregating populations. *Plant J*, 76(3), pp. 530-44.
- Kaloshian, I. (2004). Gene-for-gene disease resistance: Bridging insect pest and pathogen defense. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 30(12), pp. 2419-2438.
- Kamoun, S. (2006). A catalogue of the effector secretome of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, 44, pp. 41-60.
- Kamoun, S., Furzer, O., Jones, J.D., Judelson, H.S., Ali, G.S., Dalio, R.J., Roy, S.G., Schena, L., Zambounis, A., Panabieres, F., Cahill, D., Ruocco, M.,

Figueiredo, A., Chen, X.R., Hulvey, J., Stam, R., Lamour, K., Gijzen, M., Tyler, B.M., Grunwald, N.J., Mukhtar, M.S., Tome, D.F., Tor, M., Van Den Ackerveken, G., McDowell, J., Daayf, F., Fry, W.E., Lindqvist-Kreuze, H., Meijer, H.J., Petre, B., Ristaino, J., Yoshida, K., Birch, P.R. & Govers, F. (2014). The Top 10 oomycete pathogens in molecular plant pathology. *Mol Plant Pathol*.

- Katambo, M. (2007). A Systematic Study of African Solanum L. Section Solanum (Solanaceae). *PhD thesis, Wageningen University, The Netherlands*.
- Kazan, K. & Lyons, R. (2014). Intervention of Phytohormone Pathways by Pathogen Effectors. *Plant Cell*, 26(6), pp. 2285-2309.
- Kim, D., Pertea, G., Trapnell, C., Pimentel, H., Kelley, R. & Salzberg, S.L. (2013). TopHat2: accurate alignment of transcriptomes in the presence of insertions, deletions and gene fusions. *Genome Biology*, 14(4).
- King, S.R.F., McLellan, H., Boevink, P.C., Armstrong, M.R., Bukharova, T., Sukarta, O., Win, J., Kamoun, S., Birch, P.R.J. & Banfield, M.J. (2014). Phytophthora infestans RXLR Effector PexRD2 Interacts with Host MAPKKK epsilon to Suppress Plant Immune Signaling. *Plant Cell*, 26(3), pp. 1345-1359.
- Kroschel, J., Sporleder, M., Tonnang, H.E.Z., Juarez, H., Carhuapoma, P., Gonzales, J.C. & Simon, R. (2013). Predicting climate-change-caused changes in global temperature on potato tuber moth Phthorimaea operculella (Zeller) distribution and abundance using phenology modeling and GIS mapping. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 170, pp. 228-241.
- Laothawornkitkul, J., Jansen, R.M.C., Smid, H.M., Bouwmeester, H.J., Muller, J. & van Bruggen, A.H.C. (2010). Volatile organic compounds as a diagnostic marker of late blight infected potato plants: A pilot study. *Crop Protection*, 29(8), pp. 872-878.
- Lawrence, S.D., Novak, N.G., Jones, R.W., Farrar, R.R. & Blackburn, M.B. (2014). Herbivory responsive C2H2 zinc finger transcription factor protein StZFP2 from potato. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 80, pp. 226-233.
- Lebecka, R. (2008). Host-pathogen interaction between Phytophthora infestans and Solanum nigrum, S-villosum, and S-scabrum. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 120(3), pp. 233-240.
- Lebecka, R. (2009). Inheritance of resistance in Solanum nigrum to Phytophthora infestans. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 124(2), pp. 345-348.
- Li, L., Stoeckert, C.J. & Roos, D.S. (2003). OrthoMCL: Identification of ortholog groups for eukaryotic genomes. *Genome Research*, 13(9), pp. 2178-2189.
- Liljeroth, E., Bengtsson, T., Wiik, L. & Andreasson, E. (2010). Induced resistance in potato to Phytphthora infestans-effects of BABA in greenhouse and field tests with different potato varieties. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 127(2), pp. 171-183.
- Lim, S., Chisholm, K., Coffin, R.H., Peters, R.D., Al-Mughrabi, K.I., Wang-Pruski, G. & Pinto, D.M. (2012). Protein profiling in potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) leaf tissues by differential centrifugation. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 11(4), pp. 2594-601.

- Luna, E., Bruce, T.J.A., Roberts, M.R., Flors, V. & Ton, J. (2012). Next-Generation Systemic Acquired Resistance. *Plant Physiol*, 158(2), pp. 844-853.
- Malcolmson, J. & Black, W. (1966). New R genes in Solanum demissum lindl. And their complementary races of Phytophthora infestans (Mont.) de bary. *Euphytica*, 15(2), pp. 199-203.
- Massa, A.N., Childs, K.L., Lin, H.N., Bryan, G.J., Giuliano, G. & Buell, C.R. (2011). The Transcriptome of the Reference Potato Genome Solanum tuberosum Group Phureja Clone DM1-3 516R44. *PLoS ONE*, 6(10).
- Mazáková, J., Táborský, V., Zouhar, M., Ryšánek, P., Hausvater, E.a. & Doležal, P. (2006). Occurrence and Distribution of Mating Types A1 and A2 of Phytophthora infestans (Mont.) de Bary in the Czech Republic. *Plant Protect. Sci.*, 42(2), pp. 41–48.
- McLellan, H., Boevink, P.C., Armstrong, M.R., Pritchard, L., Gomez, S., Morales, J., Whisson, S.C., Beynon, J.L. & Birch, P.R. (2013). An RxLR effector from Phytophthora infestans prevents re-localisation of two plant NAC transcription factors from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus. *PLoS Pathog*, 9(10), p. e1003670.
- Meijer, H.J., Mancuso, F.M., Espadas, G., Seidl, M.F., Chiva, C., Govers, F. & Sabido, E. (2014). Profiling the Secretome and Extracellular Proteome of the Potato Late Blight Pathogen Phytophthora infestans. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 13(8), pp. 2101-13.
- Money, N.P. (1998). Why oomycetes have not stopped being fungi. *Mycol. Res.* 102 (6): 767–768 Printed in Great Britain.
- Niederhauser, J.S. (1991). *Phytophthora infestans: the Mexican connection*: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Odilbekov, F., Carlson-Nilsson, U. & Liljeroth, E. (2014). Phenotyping early blight resistance in potato cultivars and breeding clones. *Euphytica*, 197(1), pp. 87-97.
- Oh, S.K., Young, C., Lee, M., Oliva, R., Bozkurt, T.O., Cano, L.M., Win, J., Bos, J.I.B., Liu, H.Y., van Damme, M., Morgan, W., Choi, D., Van der Vossen, E.A.G., Vleeshouwers, V.G.A.A. & Kamoun, S. (2009). In Planta Expression Screens of Phytophthora infestans RXLR Effectors Reveal Diverse Phenotypes, Including Activation of the Solanum bulbocastanum Disease Resistance Protein Rpi-blb2. *Plant Cell*, 21(9), pp. 2928-2947.
- Olivieri, F.P., Lobato, M.C., González Altamiranda, E., Daleo, G.R., Huarte, M., Guevara, M.G. & Andreu, A.B. (2009). BABA effects on the behaviour of potato cultivars infected by Phytophthora infestans and Fusarium solani. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 123(1), pp. 47-56.
- Pastor, V., Balmer, A., Gamir, J., Flors, V. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2014). Preparing to fight back: generation and storage of priming compounds. *Front Plant Sci*, 5.
- Pieterse, C.J., Derksen, A.-M.E., Folders, J. & Govers, F. (1994). Expression of the Phytophthora infestans ipiB and ipi0 genes in planta and in vitro. *Molecular and General Genetics MGG*, 244(3), pp. 269-277.
- Platt, H.W. (1999). Response of solanaceous cultivated plants and weed species to inoculation with A1 or A2 mating time strains of Phytophthora infestans.

Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology-Revue Canadienne De Phytopathologie, 21(3), pp. 301-307.

- Potato Genome Sequencing, C. (2011). Genome sequence and analysis of the tuber crop potato. *Nature*, 475(7355), pp. 189-95.
- Pritchard, L. & Birch, P.R. (2014). The zigzag model of plant-microbe interactions: is it time to move on? *Mol Plant Pathol*, 15(9), pp. 865-70.
- Prokop, S. & Albert, J. (2008). International Year of the Potato: Potatoes, nutrition and diet, <u>http://www.fao.org/potato-2008</u>.
- Reddick, D. (1934). Elimination of potato late blight from North America. *Phytopathology*, 24, pp. 555-557.
- Rejeb, I.B., Pastor, V. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2014). Plant Responses to Simultaneous Biotic and Abiotic Stress: Molecular Mechanisms. *Plants (Basel)*, 3(4), pp. 458-75.
- Resjo, S., Ali, A., Meijer, H.J.G., Seidl, M.F., Snel, B., Sandin, M., Levander, F., Govers, F. & Andreasson, E. (2014). Quantitative Label-Free Phosphoproteomics of Six Different Life Stages of the Late Blight Pathogen Phytophthora infestans Reveals Abundant Phosphorylation of Members of the CRN Effector Family. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 13(4), pp. 1848-1859.
- Rietman, H., Bijsterbosch, G., Cano, L.M., Lee, H.R., Vossen, J.H., Jacobsen, E., Visser, R.G.F., Kamoun, S. & Vleeshouwers, V.G.A.A. (2012).
 Qualitative and Quantitative Late Blight Resistance in the Potato Cultivar Sarpo Mira Is Determined by the Perception of Five Distinct RXLR Effectors. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 25(7), pp. 910-919.
- Rodewald, J. & Trognitz, B. (2013). Solanum resistance genes against Phytophthora infestans and their corresponding avirulence genes. *Mol Plant Pathol*, 14(7), pp. 740-757.
- Ruhe, J., Agler, M.T., Placzek, A., Kramer, K., Finkemeier, I. & Kemen, E.M. (2016). Obligate Biotroph Pathogens of the Genus Albugo Are Better Adapted to Active Host Defense Compared to Niche Competitors. *Front Plant Sci*, 7, p. 820.
- Runno-Paurson, E., Remmel, T., Koppel, M. & Tähtjärv, T. (2010). Occurence and distribution mating types A1 and A2 of Phytophthora infestans in eastern Estonia. Agronomy Research, 8 ((Special Issue II)), pp. 471-474.
- Samuels, J. (2015). Biodiversity of Food Species of the Solanaceae Family: A Preliminary Taxonomic Inventory of Subfamily Solanoideae. *Resources*, 4(2), pp. 277-322.
- Sanseverino, W., Hermoso, A., D'Alessandro, R., Vlasova, A., Andolfo, G., Frusciante, L., Lowy, E., Roma, G. & Ercolano, M.R. (2013). PRGdb 2.0: towards a community-based database model for the analysis of R-genes in plants. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(D1), pp. D1167-D1171.
- Saunders, D.G.O., Breen, S., Win, J., Schornack, S., Hein, I., Bozkurt, T.O., Champouret, N., Vleeshouwers, V.G.A.A., Birch, P.R.J., Gilroy, E.M. & Kamoun, S. (2012). Host Protein BSL1 Associates with Phytophthora infestans RXLR Effector AVR2 and the Solanum demissum Immune Receptor R2 to Mediate Disease Resistance. *Plant Cell*, 24(8), pp. 3420-3434.

- Schafer, S. & Schmulling, T. (2002). The CRK1 receptor-like kinase gene of tobacco is negatively regulated by cytokinin. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 50(2), pp. 155-166.
- Si-Ammour, A., Mauch-Mani, B. & Mauch, F. (2003). Quantification of induced resistance against Phytophthora species expressing GFP as a vital marker: beta-aminobutyric acid but not BTH protects potato and Arabidopsis from infection. *Mol Plant Pathol*, 4(4), pp. 237-48.
- Sierra, R., Rodriguez, L.M., Chaves, D., Pinzon, A., Grajales, A., Rojas, A., Mutis, G., Cardenas, M., Burbano, D., Jimenez, P., Bernal, A. & Restrepo, S. (2010). Discovery of Phytophthora infestans Genes Expressed in Planta through Mining of cDNA Libraries. *PLoS ONE*, 5(3).
- Sjöholm, L. (2012). How Sexual Reproduction Affects the Population Biology of Phytophthora infestans. *PhD thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences*, 2012.
- Slater, A.T., Cogan, N.O.I., Hayes, B.J., Schultz, L., Dale, M.F.B., Bryan, G.J. & Forster, J.W. (2014). Improving breeding efficiency in potato using molecular and quantitative genetics. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 127(11), pp. 2279-2292.
- Slaughter, A., Daniel, X., Flors, V., Luna, E., Hohn, B. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2012). Descendants of primed Arabidopsis plants exhibit resistance to biotic stress. *Plant Physiol*, 158(2), pp. 835-43.
- Spooner, D.M., McLean, K., Ramsay, G., Waugh, R. & Bryan, G.J. (2005). A single domestication for potato based on multilocus amplified fragment length polymorphism genotyping. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 102(41), pp. 14694-14699.
- Sueldo, D., Ahmed, A., Misas-Villamil, J., Colby, T., Tameling, W., Joosten, M.H.A.J. & van der Hoorn, R.A.L. (2014). Dynamic hydrolase activities precede hypersensitive tissue collapse in tomato seedlings. *New Phytologist*, 203(3), pp. 913-925.
- Takahashi, H., Kanayama, Y., Zheng, M.S., Kusano, T., Hase, S., Ikegami, M. & Shah, J. (2004). Antagonistic interactions between the SA and JA signaling pathways in Arabidopsis modulate expression of defense genes and gene-for-gene resistance to cucumber mosaic virus. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 45(6), pp. 803-809.
- Thimm, O., Blasing, O., Gibon, Y., Nagel, A., Meyer, S., Kruger, P., Selbig, J., Muller, L.A., Rhee, S.Y. & Stitt, M. (2004). MAPMAN: a user-driven tool to display genomics data sets onto diagrams of metabolic pathways and other biological processes. *Plant Journal*, 37(6), pp. 914-939.
- Thomma, B.P., Nurnberger, T. & Joosten, M.H. (2011). Of PAMPs and effectors: the blurred PTI-ETI dichotomy. *Plant Cell*, 23(1), pp. 4-15.
- Ton, J. & Mauch-Mani, B. (2004). β-amino-butyric acid-induced resistance against necrotrophic pathogens is based on ABA-dependent priming for callose. *The Plant Journal*, 38, pp. 119-130.
- Torto, T.A., Li, S.A., Styer, A., Huitema, E., Testa, A., Gow, N.A.R., van West, P. & Kamoun, S. (2003). EST mining and functional expression assays identify extracellular effector proteins from the plant pathogen Phytophthora. *Genome Research*, 13(7), pp. 1675-1685.

- van Damme, M., Bozkurt, T.O., Cakir, C., Schornack, S., Sklenar, J., Jones, A.M. & Kamoun, S. (2012). The Irish potato famine pathogen Phytophthora infestans translocates the CRN8 kinase into host plant cells. *PLoS Pathog*, 8(8), p. e1002875.
- van der Hoorn, R.A., Colby, T., Nickel, S., Richau, K.H., Schmidt, J. & Kaiser, M. (2011). Mining the Active Proteome of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Front Plant Sci*, 2, p. 89.
- van Poppel, P.M.J.A., Guo, J., de Vondervoort, P.J.I.V., Jung, M.W.M., Birch, P.R.J., Whisson, S.C. & Govers, F. (2008). The Phytophthora infestans Avirulence Gene Avr4 Encodes an RXLR- dEER Effector. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 21(11), pp. 1460-1470.
- Wang, B.L., Liu, J., Tian, Z.D., Song, B.T. & Xie, C.H. (2005). Monitoring the expression patterns of potato genes associated with quantitative resistance to late blight during Phytophthora infestans infection using cDNA microarrays. *Plant Science*, 169(6), pp. 1155-1167.
- Venkateswarlu, J. & Rao, M.K. (1972). Breeding system, crossability relationships and isolating mechanisms in the Solanum nigrum complex. *Cytologia*, 37(2), pp. 317-326.
- Vetukuri, R.R., Stephen C. Whisson & Grenville-Briggs, L. (2017). Phytophthora infestans effector Pi14054 is a novel candidate suppressor of host silencing mechanisms. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, DOI: 10.1007/s10658-017-1222-9
- Widmark, A.K., Andersson, B., Cassel-Lundhagen, A., Sandstrom, M. & Yuen, J.E. (2007). Phytophthora infestans in a single field in southwest Sweden early in spring: symptoms, spatial distribution and genotypic variation. *Plant Pathology*, 56(4), pp. 573-579.
- Win, J., Morgan, W., Bos, J., Krasileva, K.V., Cano, L.M., Chaparro-Garcia, A., Ammar, R., Staskawicz, B.J. & Kamoun, S. (2007). Adaptive evolution has targeted the C-terminal domain of the RXLR effectors of plant pathogenic oomycetes. *Plant Cell*, 19(8), pp. 2349-2369.
- Witek, K., Jupe, F., Witek, A.I., Baker, D., Clark, M.D. & Jones, J.D.G. (2016). Accelerated cloning of a potato late blight-resistance gene using RenSeq and SMRT sequencing. *Nature Biotechnology*, 34(6), pp. 656-660.
- Vleeshouwers, V.G., Rietman, H., Krenek, P., Champouret, N., Young, C., Oh, S.K., Wang, M., Bouwmeester, K., Vosman, B., Visser, R.G., Jacobsen, E., Govers, F., Kamoun, S. & Van der Vossen, E.A. (2008). Effector genomics accelerates discovery and functional profiling of potato disease resistance and phytophthora infestans avirulence genes. *PLoS ONE*, 3(8), p. e2875.
- Vleeshouwers, V.G.A.A., Raffaele, S., Vossen, J.H., Champouret, N., Oliva, R., Segretin, M.E., Rietman, H., Cano, L.M., Lokossou, A., Kessel, G., Pel, M.A. & Kamoun, S. (2011). Understanding and Exploiting Late Blight Resistance in the Age of Effectors. *Annual Review of Phytopathology, Vol* 49, 49, pp. 507-531.
- Vleeshouwers, V.G.A.A., van, D.W., Govers, F., Kamoun, S. & Colon, L.T. (2000). The hypersensitive response is associated with host and nonhost resistance to Phytophthora infestans. *Planta*, 210, pp. 853-864.

- Xiang, Q.J. & Judelson, H.S. (2014). Myb Transcription Factors and Light Regulate Sporulation in the Oomycete Phytophthora infestans. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4).
- Yang, L.N., McLellan, H., Naqvi, S., He, Q., Boevink, P.C., Armstrong, M., Giuliani, L.M., Zhang, W., Tian, Z.D., Zhan, J.S., Gilroy, E.M. & Birch, P.R.J. (2016). Potato NPH3/RPT2-Like Protein StNRL1, Targeted by a Phytophthora infestans RXLR Effector, Is a Susceptibility Factor. *Plant Physiol*, 171(1), pp. 645-657.
- Yuen, J.E. & Andersson, B. (2013). What is the evidence for sexual reproduction of Phytophthora infestans in Europe? *Plant Pathology*, 62(3), pp. 485-491.
- Zakir, A., Sadek, M.M., Bengtsson, M., Hansson, B.S., Witzgall, P. & Anderson, P. (2013). Herbivore-induced plant volatiles provide associational resistance against an ovipositing herbivore. *Journal of Ecology*, 101(2), pp. 410-417.
- Zamioudis, C. & Pieterse, C.M.J. (2012). Modulation of Host Immunity by Beneficial Microbes. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 25(2), pp. 139-150.
- Zhang, Y., Lubberstedt, T. & Xu, M.L. (2013). The Genetic and Molecular Basis of Plant Resistance to Pathogens. *Journal of Genetics and Genomics*, 40(1), pp. 23-35.
- Zhao, S., Fung-Leung, W.P., Bittner, A., Ngo, K. & Liu, X. (2014). Comparison of RNA-Seq and microarray in transcriptome profiling of activated T cells. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), p. e78644.
- Zipfel, C. (2014). Plant pattern-recognition receptors. *Trends in Immunology*, 35(7), pp. 345-351.

Acknowledgements

I am extremely grateful to those who have contributed to this thesis and supported me during this exciting journey.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor *Professor Erik Andreasson*, for his tremendous mentorship. I would like to thank you for your patience, continuous support and motivation. Your guidance has been a great help to me throughout my study period- from developing the research concepts to writing of this thesis. Thanks for all the encouragement and support!

My sincere gratitude is reserved for my co-supervisors: Dr. Erik Alexandersson and Dr. Åsa Lankinen for the great help in laboratory work, continuous discussions, and constructive inputs and comments. I am grateful for your guidance and efforts to improve structure of this thesis.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank current and former members of the *Resistance Biology* research unit:

Itziar Frades and Estelle Wera for your contribution to the transcriptomics paper, and Laura Masini and Sofia Hydbom for your contribution to the resistance screening manuscript.

Mia Mogren for your great help in the lab, being such a nice office-mate.

I am grateful to Laura Grenville-Briggs for the discussions, and valuable comments and inputs on this thesis.

Special thanks to Svante Resjö, Abigail Walter, Salla Marttila, Sandeep Kumar Kushwaha, Ramesh Vetukuri, Maja Brus, Marit Lenman, Jakob Willfors, Erland Liljeroth, Pia Ohlsson, Aamir Khan, Sophie Brouwer, Jon Bancic, Malin Dörre, Mira Rur, Dharani Dhar, Karl Kasper, Therese Bengtsson, Ashfaq Ali, Per Mühlenbock, Laith Moushib, Maria Strandh, My Bengtsson for the discussions and fostering a friendly working environment. I would like to acknowledge your contribution to my study in one way or another.

Very special thanks to Professor Peter Andersson, SLU, and Professor Fredrik Levander and Professor Stefan Andersson, Lund University, for your collaboration, fruitful discussions, and contribution to the papers.

My sincere thanks goes to Professor Renier A. L. van der Hoorn and Dr. Daniela Sueldo, in the Plant Chemetics lab research group at University of Oxford, and Professor Markus Kaiser and Dr. Kaschani Farnusch, Universität Duisburg-Essen, for your contribution to the proteomics analysis manuscript.

I am grateful to the current and former colleagues and PhD students in *Horticum* and Dept. of Plant Protection Biology for your great help, discussions, creating a positive work environment, and friendship. I could not ask for a better group of colleagues and work atmosphere.

My special thanks to my friends: Abel Teshome et. al, Firuz Odilbekov et. al, Mahbubjon Rahmatov, Bahromiddin Husenov. Thanks for your kindness and hospitality. Btw, whose turn is it to cook the next dinner?

I thank Tibebe, Bethlehem, Esayas, Mengistu, Sewalem, Tewodros and Haimanot for your friendship. I am greatly indebted to Mulatu Geleta and his family, for their guidance and hospitability since we first met.

I would like to thank my friends Afewerk, Tesfalem, Halefom, Tadele, Tewodros, and former colleagues at Mekelle University with a special mention to Dr. Araya Alemie and Dr. Yemane Tsehaye for their friendship, support and encouragement.

I want to thank my family for their constant support and encouragement. Mom, I can't express my deepest gratitude to you ($- \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2h} \frac{\partial \mathcal{R}}{\partial r} \mathcal{P}(C\Delta G)$). My beloved brothers, Misgina and Bereket, thanks for your unconditional love and support. I want to extend my acknowledgement to my aunts and uncles. My wonderful wife, Beyu, I want to thank you for your love, patience, understanding and support, and taking care of me and our son Nayab – completing this thesis would not have been possible without your strength.

Last but not least, I am thankful to all whose names have not been mentioned in this acknowledgment.